SYNCHRONIZATION STUDIES BETWEEN TWO COUPLED GLOW DISCHARGE PLASMA SOURCES

Ву

NEERAJ CHAUBEY PHYS06201104013

INSTITUTE FOR PLASMA RESEARCH, GANDHINAGAR

A thesis submitted to the Board of Studies in Physical Sciences

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

of

HOMI BHABHA NATIONAL INSTITUTE



February 2017

Homi Bhabha National Institute¹

Recommendations of the Viva Voce Committee

As members of the Viva Voce Committee, we certify that we have read the dissertation prepared by **Neeraj Chaubey** entitled "**Synchronization Studies Between Two Coupled Glow Discharge Plasma Sources**" and recommend that it may be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirement for the award of Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Abhyell	
Chairman - Prof. A. Sen	Date: 04/07/2017
Smitcheyji	Dute: 04/07/2017
Guide / Convener - Prof. S. Mukherjee	Date: 04/07/2017
A. m. Selen Jyingen	
Co-guide - Prof. A. N. Sekar Iyengar	Date: 04/07/2017
I ppaimer r	
Examiner – Prof. Punit Parmananda	Date: 04/07/2017
Ban	ion must be obtained from
Member 1- Dr. G. Ravi	Date: 04/07/2017
muber Rai-	
Member 2- Dr. M. Ranjan	Date: 04/07/2017
S. UCr.	
Technology Advisor- Dr. S. B. Gupta	Date: 04/07/2017

Final approval and acceptance of this thesis is contingent upon the candidate's submission of the final copies of the thesis to HBNI.

I/We hereby certify that I/we have read this thesis prepared under my/our direction and recommend that it may be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirement.

Date: 04/07/2017

Place: Gandhinagar

r. Sehen Jying " <Signature>

Co-guide: Prof. A. N. Sekar Iyengar

Sunkheyi <Signature>

Guide: Prof. S. Mukherjee

¹ This page is to be included only for final submission after successful completion of viva voce.

STATEMENT BY AUTHOR

This dissertation has been submitted in partial fulfillment of requirements for an advanced degree at Homi Bhabha National Institute (HBNI) and is deposited in the Library to be made available to borrowers under rules of the HBNI.

Brief quotations from this dissertation are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgement of source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by the Competent Authority of HBNI when in his or her judgment the proposed use of the material is in the interests of scholarship. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

Neeraj Chaubey

DECLARATION

I, hereby declare that the investigation presented in the thesis has been carried out by me. The work is original and the work has not been submitted earlier as a whole or in part for a degree/diploma at this or any other Institution or University.

aroute of

Neeraj Chaubey

List of Publications arising from the thesis

Journal:

- "Experimental observation of phase-flip transitions in two inductively coupled glow discharge plasmas", Neeraj Chaubey, S. Mukherjee, A. Sen, and A. N. Sekar Iyengar, Physical Review E 94, 061201(R) (2016)
- "Synchronization between two coupled direct current glow discharge plasma sources",

Neeraj Chaubey, S. Mukherjee, A. N. Sekar Iyengar, and A. Sen, Phys. Plasmas 22, 022312 (2015).

• "Mutual harmonic synchronization between two coupled plasma sources",

Neeraj Chaubey, S. Mukherjee, A. Sen, and A. N. Sekar Iyengar, To be submitted.

Conferences/Schools: International Participation

- "Chaotic synchronization between two dc glow discharge plasma sources via non intrusive coupling"
 9th Chaos Modeling and Simulation International Conference.
 Senate House, University of London, 23 - 26 May 2016
- "Synchronization dynamics and Arnold tongues for two coupled glow discharge plasma sources", 10th Asia Plasma and Fusion Association Conference. Institute for Plasma Research, Gandhinagar, India, 14 - 18 December 2015.
- "School on Hands-on-Research in Complex Systems". ICTP, Trieste, Italy, 28 June - 10 July 2015.

National Participation

- "Hands on School on Nonlinear Dynamics 2015 (HSND-2015)", Institute for Plasma Research, Gandhinagar, India, 16 - 22 February, 2015.
- "Synchronization of self oscillatory oscillations between two coupled DC glow discharge plasma sources",
 29th National Symposium on Plasma Science and Technology (PLASMA-2014),
 Mahatma Gandhi University, Kottayam, 8 11 December 2014
- DST SERC School on Nonlinear Dynamics.
 Punjab University, Punjab, India, January 27 February 18, 2014.
- "Synchronization between two plasma sources by direct coupling", 8th Conference on Nonlinear Systems and Dynamics, Indian Institute of Technology, Indore, India, 11 - 14 December 2013.
- "Synchronization between two plasma sources with unidirectional coupling", 28th National Symposium on Plasma Science and Technology-Plasma - 2013, KIIT University, Bhubaneswar, India, 3 - 6 December 2013.

- DST SERC School on Tokamaks and Magnetized Plasma Fusion. Institute for Plasma Research, Gandhinagar, India, 25 February - 15 March 2013.
- "Effect of external forcing on chaotic fluctuations", 27th National Symposium on Plasma Science and Technology- Plasma-2012, Pondicherry University, India, December 2012.
- 7th National Conference on Non linear Systems and dynamics (NCNSD -2012). ISSER, Pune, India, 12 - 15 July 2012.
- 1st PSSI Plasma Scholars Colloquium (PPSC 2012). Institute for Plasma Research, Gandhinagar, India, 3 - 4 July 2012.

Rebauby Neeraj Chaubey

To my family

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my thesis supervisor, Prof. Subroto Mukherjee who has constantly inspired me for the completion of this thesis work. I specially thank him for the freedom that he has given me to do research and availability for discussion at any time. I am really very fortunate to work under the guidance of such a nice person.

I am particularly grateful to Prof. Abhijit Sen without whom I can not imagine completing of this thesis work. He has held my hand for the entire duration of my Ph.D time and helped me in converging the research ideas. I am also thankful to him for his thorough check on each of my research manuscripts, commenting on my views and helping me to understand and enrich my knowledge.

I am also very thankful to my co-guide Prof. A. N. Sekar Iyengar(SINP) for introducing me to this beautiful world of synchronization and helping me to learn various nonlinear techniques. I would like to pay my sincere regards to other members of my doctoral committee Dr. G. Ravi, Dr. Mukesh Ranjan and Dr. S. B. Gupta for evaluating my work and giving fruitful suggestions.

I would like to acknowledge, Prof. A. Das, Prof. R. Ganesh, Prof. S. Sengupta, Prof. S. Mukherjee, Prof. P. K. Chattopadhyay, Dr. J. Ghosh, Dr. D. Sharma, Dr. M. Kundu, Dr. S. Karkari, Dr. N. Bisai, Dr. D. Chandra, Dr. D. Raju, Dr. G. Ravi, Dr. R. Srinivasan, and others, who have taught me plasma physics and other relevant subjects.

I would like to give special thanks to my lab mate Mangilal for helping me in my experiments, listening to my stupid ideas and making a pleasant environment around me. I would also like to give special thanks to my senior Vikram Singh Dharodi for the quality time that I have spent with him and for reading my thesis. I would also like to thank Soumen Ghosh, Bhumika, Jervis, Gurudatt Gaur and Deepak for reading my thesis and giving fruitful suggestions. I would also like to give my special thanks to my seniors Jugal, Satya, Khitish, Deepak, Aditya and Soumen for their constant support and helping me to understand various aspects of life.

I also intend to thank all my friends and colleagues working at FCIPT for their help during my Ph.D. Special thanks to Prachi, Garima, Purvi, Vivek, Hardik, Mukul, Chirayu, Rane, Akshay, Sagar, Bhupendra bhai, Kaila (Mama), Vijay, Gautam Vodolia, Adam, Satyaprasad, Ghanshyam bhai, Vaghela bhai, Balasubramanian, Alphonsa, Keena, Purvi, Anand, Nisha, Vishal, Murugan, for their kind help for carrying out my experiments.

I would like to thank all my hostel friends who have always wished me well. I have enjoyed the time that I spent with them. I record my courteous thanks to my seniors Sharad, Satya, Shekar, Jugal, Kshitish, Deepak, Ujjwal, Gurudatt, Vikram, Prabal, Ashwin, Sita, Rameswar, Sushil, Sanat, Pravesh, Sayak, Manjit, Aditya, Soumen, Vikram, Rana, Veda, Rimza and fellow students Vara, Bibhu, Rupendra, Chandrasekhar, Mangilal, Meghraj, Akanksha, Vidhi, Deepa, Harish, and Samir. I would also like to convey my best wishes to my juniors, Sonu, Debraj, Ratan, Narayan, Arghya, Umesh, Modhu, Amit, Bhumika, Sagar, Atul, Deepak Verma, Alam, Prabhakar, Jervis, Sandeep, Pallavi, Minakshi, Harshita, Chetan, Arun, Subroto, Gaurav Singh, Rupak, Shivam, Avnish, Niraj, Srimanto, Dipshika, Garima and other scholars and TTPs for creating a friendly ambiance around me.

My heartfelt thanks to my family for their patience and wishes for the successful completion of this research. They were always supporting me and encouraging me with their best wishes. Most importantly, I thank the Almighty for giving me the strength and patience to complete this thesis successfully.

I am also thankful to library, administration and computer center staff for their kind support during Ph.D. tenure. I am proud to be a research scholar at IPR. This institute has given to me so much love, respect and appreciation. I can never give back what I got from here. I will always remain indebted to IPR.

Contents

	Syne	ppsis
	List	of Figures
1	Intr	roduction 1
	1.1	Synchronization
	1.2	A Plasma Medium as an Oscillator
	1.3	Synchronization Studies in Plasma Systems
		1.3.1 Experimental Work
		1.3.2 Numerical Modeling Work
	1.4	Motivation of Thesis
	1.5	Organization of Thesis 9
2	Exp	perimental setup and plasma characterization 13
	2.1	Introduction
	2.2	Experimental Setup
		2.2.1 Chambers and Pumping System
		2.2.2 Electrodes
		2.2.3 DC Power Supply
		2.2.4 Shielding From External Noise
		2.2.5 Diagnostic
	2.3	Plasma Characterization
		2.3.1 Paschen Curve
		2.3.2 Discharge Voltage vs Current Characteristics
	2.4	Plasma Conditions Required For Synchronization
	2.5	Data Analysis Techniques 21
		2.5.1 Time Series Plot 22
		2.5.2 Power Spectrum
		2.5.3 Lissajous Plot 22
		2.5.4 Frequency Bifurcation Plot
		2.5.5 Devil's Stair Case Plot
	2.6	Summary and Conclusions
	2.0	
3	Van	der Pol equation to study the dynamics of coupled plasma
	syst	27 27
	3.1	Introduction
	3.2	Van der Pol Model in Plasma Systems
		3.2.1 Physical Interpretation of Coefficients
		3.2.2 Role of Additional DC Constant Term A in Eq. (3.17) 33
	3.3	Coupled Oscillation Dynamics
		3.3.1 Direct Coupling
		3.3.2 Indirect Coupling or Bath Coupling

Contents

	3.4	Summary and Conclusions	38
4	Mu	tual synchronization studies via direct coupling	39
	4.1	Introduction	39
	4.2	Experimental Setup	40
	4.3	Experimental Results	41
		4.3.1 Frequency Dynamics of the Uncoupled System	41
		4.3.2 Synchronization Between Two Coupled DC Glow Discharge	
		Plasmas	42
	4.4	Numerical Modeling Results	47
		4.4.1 Frequency Dynamics of a Single Asymmetric Van Der Pol	. –
		Type Model Equation	47
		4.4.2 Dynamics of Two Coupled Asymmetric Van Der Pol Type	10
	4 5	Equations	48
	4.5	Discussion and Conclusions	54
5	Pha	se-flip transition via indirect coupling	55
	5.1	Introduction	55
	5.2	Experimental Setup	56
	5.3	Numerical Modeling Results	63
	5.4	Summary and Conclusions	66
6	Mu	tual harmonic synchronization via direct coupling	67
	6.1	Introduction	67
	6.2	Experimental Setup and Procedure	68
	6.3	Experimental Results: Mutual Harmonic Synchronization	70
		6.3.1 Frequency Dynamics of the Uncoupled Systems	70
		6.3.2 Dynamics of Mutual Harmonic Synchronization	71
		6.3.3 Devil's Staircase and Frequency Bifurcation Plots	74
	6.4	Numerical Modeling	76
		6.4.1 Mutual Harmonic Synchronization	79
		6.4.2 Frequency Bifurcation Plot	80
	6.5	Summary and Conclusions	81
7	Sun	nmary and future scope	83
	7.1	Summary	83
		7.1.1 Mutual Synchronization Studies via Direct Coupling	84
		7.1.2 Phase-flip Transition via Indirect Coupling	85
		7.1.3 Mutual Harmonic Synchronization via Direct Coupling	86
	7.2	Future Scope	87

SYNOPSIS

Plasma is a complex medium, composed of charged and neutral particles, which inherently supports different types of nonlinear oscillations and instabilities. Depending upon the plasma conditions, these oscillations are classified as periodic, quasi-periodic, chaotic, turbulent etc. Controlling and understanding these oscillations are the biggest challenge in the plasma community. Synchronization is a universal phenomenon in which coupled oscillators adjust their rhythms to come into a unison motion. Synchronization helps in both controlling as well as understanding these plasma oscillations. Although synchronization phenomena looks very simple, however, the unison motion between the coupled oscillators goes through several dynamical processes. These processes are generally known as different synchronization types. Complete synchronization [1–3], lag synchronization [1–3], phase synchronization [1-3], imperfect synchronization [1-3], intermittent synchronization [1-3], oscillation death [1-3], chimera state [4], and phase-flip transition [5]are treated as various type of synchronization. Due to charge particle interactions, electrons, ions, and neutrals exhibit oscillatory motion in plasma. Landau damping of wave and particle interactions in plasma has been shown to have an analogous nature to the synchronization phenomenon among coupled oscillators by S. Strogatz [6]. Also, a type of synchronization method in which oscillation of a system is fedback to itself, known as feedback synchronization has been used in many plasma experiments for suppressing different types of nonlinear instabilities [7–11].

Although synchronization between plasma systems have already demonstrated its implication for controlling various types of plasma instabilities, there are only a few reported experimental works where such studies have been done. Most of these experimental work are concentrated around forced synchronization phenomenon also known as unidirectional synchronization, in which oscillations of a self-sustained oscillator are forced with the oscillations of a stable frequency source. By using this type of forced synchronization method, many different types of synchronization have been studied for various types of plasma instabilities like mode-mode coupling [12, 13], resonance effect [14], harmonic synchronization [15], and chaotic synchronization [16], etc. However, this method has some limitations. Oscillation death, chimera state, and phase-flip transition, etc. can not be studied by this way of synchronization method. The possible way to analyze is via mutual synchronization method. In plasma systems, there are a few reported works where mutual synchronization has been studied [17, 18]. One of the works is done by Stan et al. [17], in which they have reported mutual synchronization as a result of two coupled electrical discharges. Moreover in this experiment, both the discharge systems are kept inside a big chamber, where plasmas of two discharges directly interact with each other. In 2006, Fukuyama et al. have studied mutual synchronization between two isolated plasma systems [18]. In this work they have reported spatiotemporal synchronization between two mutually coupled chaotic oscillations.

Therefore, being a complex plasma medium and their self-consistent interaction among the plasma systems can give enormous opportunities for finding new interesting results via mutual synchronization. There are open areas to study mutual synchronization properties; such as (1) frequency entrainment and frequency pulling states (2) Phase-flip transition (3) Harmonic synchronization between mutually coupled plasma sources, which has been studied in this thesis. Both experimental and numerical results of mutual synchronization between two coupled glow discharge plasma systems are presented in this thesis.

Frequency entrainment is a synchronized state in which all the mutually coupled oscillators, oscillate with the same synchronized frequency. These states arise between the coupled oscillators when coupling strength is strong. If coupling strength is weak between the oscillators, then frequency pulling like states occur. In this state, side band or beat frequencies are formed around the fundamental frequencies of the oscillator.

Phase-flip is a type of synchronization process in which coupled oscillators abruptly change their phases either from in phase to out of phase or vice versa with only a slight change in the coupling strength. This is a unique type of synchronization process which has attracted the attention of many researchers in different areas of science [5, 19-25]. Prasad et al. in 2008 [5], have shown that this phaseflip transition can be universally observed in all the coupled systems with a time delay. Soon after them, the occurrence of this type of transition is observed among many different coupled oscillators [5, 19-23]. Although the theoretical study has been carried out on such phase-flip synchronization, there are only a few reported experimental works available in this direction [5, 19, 21]. One such experiment is reported by Cruz et al. in which phase-flip transition is observed between coupled chemical oscillators with the introduction of a time delay. Using the same time delay technique, in coupled electronic oscillators also such transitions [5, 19, 24] has been produced. Recently, Dana et al. have shown that phase-flip transition can also be observed without any time delay [24, 25]. However, their phase-flip synchronization has not been studied in two coupled plasma system. In this thesis phase-flip transition between two coupled plasma systems has been studied thoroughly.

Harmonic synchronization, is a type of synchronization in which oscillations of a self-sustained oscillator are forced at their harmonic values. In plasma systems, such studies are mainly done by unidirectional synchronization method, in which self-sustained plasma oscillations (driven system) are forced at harmonic values from the oscillations of a stable frequency source (driver system). In such studies, changes are only observed in driven system, not in the driver system. Therefore, it is interesting to look whether driver and the driven system both have any influence on their individual oscillations i.e., mutual synchronization process. Study of harmonic synchronization via mutual synchronization process by using both driver and driven systems are also another major objective of this thesis. In coupled plasma systems, where two plasma systems are synchronized at their harmonic values and also show generation of different type of nonlinear states beyond their harmonic region is indeed very unique observation.

A brief summary of each chapter with a comprehensive understanding of the main physical observations is described in the following:

Chapter-1: *Introduction*. Brief introduction of synchronization phenomenon is presented with its manifestation in various fields. Detailed literature survey of the experimental works related to synchronization phenomenon in plasma systems is presented. Works related to mutual synchronization phenomenon in plasma physics are discussed in detail. To discuss the oscillation dynamics theoretically, Van der Pol model is introduced, which is one of the most fundamental equation in nonlinear dynamics and has wide range of applications in different field of science such as electronic circuits, neuron model, heart dynamics, modeling interaction of geological fault etc. The relevant works of this equation for the study of plasma oscillations are presented. Phase-flip transition and hysteresis dynamics are discussed and followed by open problems and motivation behind this thesis.

Chapter-2: Experimental setup and plasma characterization. In this chapter, the experimental setup used for the study of mutual synchronization phenomenon is presented. A detailed description of vacuum chambers, power supplies, pumping system and shielding mechanism is provided. Langmuir probe diagnostic used for the measurement of floating potential fluctuations is discussed. A detailed description of electrode dimensions on the anode glow oscillation dynamics is given. We have discussed the possible ways to get anode glow oscillation by reducing the ratio of anode to the cathode surface area. The electrode size is made to fulfill the condition $S_a \leq a \times S_c \sqrt{m/M}$, where S_a and S_c represents effective anode and cathode surface areas respectively while factors m, M and a represent electron mass, ion mass, and proportionality constant respectively [26]. The plasma characterization methods like Paschen's curve and discharge voltage vs current analysis are also presented. The data analysis techniques like Lissajous plots, power spectrum, frequency bifurcation and Devil's stair case are discussed in detail.

Chapter-3 : Van der Pol equation to study the dynamics of coupled plasma

systems. In this chapter, a brief introduction of Van der Pol equation is presented followed by its derivation from the basic plasma fluid equations. The physical interpretation of all the coefficients on the oscillation dynamics is provided, and the role of the additional DC term on the oscillation dynamics of the Van der Pol equation is discussed. Coupled oscillation dynamics between two coupled Van der Pol equations are discussed in detail for coupling schemes like reactive and dissipative couplings. Bath type coupling is introduced, and its relevance with experimental inductive (indirect) coupling is discussed.

Chapter-4: Mutual synchronization studies via direct coupling. This chapter contains experimental and numerical results of synchronization dynamics between two directly coupled glow discharge plasma sources. The experimental system consists of two glow discharge tubes which are kept completely separate and coupling is established between them when anodes of the two systems are connected through a variable resistance bank. This type of coupling is also called as direct coupling because current oscillations of two systems are directly interacting with each oscillation. After this, oscillation dynamics of each of the individual discharge system is presented with increasing discharge voltage, for uncoupled configuration. In this case, it is observed that with increasing discharge voltage, oscillation frequencies increase linearly in each system. For synchronization experiment, oscillation frequencies of the two systems are chosen very close as 255 kHz and 262 kHz. Direct coupling is provided between the two systems, by connecting the anode of the two chambers through a variable resistance bank. When the value of the resistance is small, i.e., coupling strength is high, then frequency entrainment or frequency synchronized state is observed. In this state, the value of synchronized frequency is found to lie in between the oscillation frequencies of two systems in uncoupled configuration. With increasing resistance, i.e., decreasing coupling strength, this frequency entrainment state or frequency synchronized state changes into frequency pulling state. In frequency pulling state, side band frequencies are observed around the fundamental frequencies of two systems. Numerical modeling results of synchronization dynamics are presented using two coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations. These results are closely analogous to the experimental results. The introduction of additional added DC term in the equation give numerical results which closely match with experiment. With the increasing value of this DC parameter, oscillation frequencies are found to be increasing linearly, as observed in the experiments. After this, coupled dynamics are presented using dissipative type coupling between the two Van der Pol type equations. For synchronization results, uncoupled oscillation frequencies of two equations are chosen to be in the same ratio as observed in the experiments. When coupling is established and dissipative coupling strength is varied then all the different type of synchronized states like frequency entrainment and frequency pulling are observed which are found to be same as observed in the experiments.

Chapter-5: *Phase-flip transition via indirect coupling.* In this chapter, both experimental and numerical simulation results of phase-flip transition associated with hysteresis dynamics between two inductively coupled glow discharge plasma sources are presented. A schematic indicating the inductive coupling between the two glow discharge plasma sources is shown. Inductive (indirect) coupling mechanism is discussed in detail. This inductive (indirect) coupling is provided by winding 10 turns of copper wires with thickness 2 mm, outside and on top of each of the two glass chambers. It is also observed that with increasing the discharge voltage, oscillation frequencies of each discharge systems are increasing linearly in uncoupled configuration. For synchronization, the discharge voltage of one system is kept fixed such that oscillation frequencies of this chamber do not change and inductive or non-intrusive coupling is established between the two systems by connecting outside wounded wires between two chambers. After this fundamental oscillation frequency of the other source is progressively increased with raising discharge voltage. A frequency pulling regime is observed followed by a synchronized regime that shows a frequency jump phenomenon. The jump is associated with a phase-flip transition that takes the synchronized state from in-phase to antiphase state. When the process is reversed the transition takes place at a different frequency thereby exhibiting a hysteresis effect. Numerical simulation results are provided using two Van der Pol oscillators that are coupled to each other through a dynamic common medium also known as a bath coupling, which eminently captures all the essential features of our experimental observations.

Chapter-6: Mutual harmonic synchronization via direct coupling. This chapter contains experimental results of harmonic synchronization between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources via a direct coupling. In our previous experiment, it is shown that with increasing discharge voltage, oscillation frequencies of anode glow oscillations are increasing linearly. In this work, we are using these oscillation frequencies for harmonic synchronization experiment. In this chapter, experimental results of oscillation dynamics with increasing discharge voltage is presented. It is observed that oscillation frequencies of each system are increasing linearly from 90 kHz to about 700 kHz. For harmonic synchronization experiment, the fundamental oscillation frequency of one of the system is chosen around 200 kHz, and kept fixed at that value by fixing its discharge voltage. After that, direct coupling is provided between the oscillations of two systems and fundamental oscillation frequencies of other system is increased from 90 kHz to 700 kHz with increasing its discharge voltage. Coupled dynamics of both the systems are measured using a Langmuir probe, inserted in each of the systems. It is observed that when the fundamental oscillation frequencies of both the systems lie very close to their respective harmonics then oscillations of both the systems goes to a frequency entrainment state and outside this regime goes to frequency pulling or chaotic type states. Also,

chaotic states are prominent for higher harmonic synchronization region. A Devil's staircase like picture and frequency bifurcation diagram showing different region of frequency entrainment, frequency pulling, and chaotic type states are presented.

Chapter-7 : *Summary and Future Scope* The main results of this thesis are summarized as follow:-

(1) Our experiments provide a clear demonstration of the phenomena of frequency synchronization and frequency pulling of anode glow oscillations in plasma glow discharge devices. Also, model equations developed in support of our experiments can help in identifying parametric domains for such explorations.

(2) Experimental results of synchronization via inductive or non-intrusive coupling between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources are very unique and observed first time to the best of our knowledge.

(3) Experimental results of phase-flip transition between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources are reported first time in any plasma systems and also this transition is seen without introducing any time delay between the oscillators, which is a novel result. Since earlier investigation indicate that the occurrence of this transition can only happen with time delay. For the onset of the phase-flip transition, hysteresis is observed while scanning the synchronization regime in the increasing and decreasing directions. It is to be noted that this hysteresis is not due to the existence of a particular regime in the voltage-current characteristics of the source but is solely associated with the frequency synchronization mechanism which is also quite novel result. Numerical model matched quite well with the experimental results.

(4) Harmonic synchronization results between two mutually coupled plasma oscillators are presented. These results have significant implications for stabilizing harmonic oscillations between coupled plasma oscillators.

Future scope, This thesis work can be extended for studying synchronization states like chaotic synchronization, oscillation death, chimera states and explosive synchronization etc. in plasma systems. Inductive coupling mechanism which has been demonstrated for synchronization studies in this thesis, can be taken into account for controlling plasma oscillations remotely.

List of Figures

2.1	Schematic of experimental setup for two coupled glow discharge plasma sources.	14
2.2	Synchronization experimental setup picture.	15
2.3	Picture of cylindrical glass chambers.	16
2.4	Paschen curve for (a) chamber-1 and (b) chamber-2 plasma systems with the variation in the neutral pressure for a constant distance of 15 cm between the electrodes. Paschen minimum is found to be at 0.12 mbar for both the systems.	19
2.5	Discharge voltage vs current plot. At four different pressures of chamber-1 plasma system.(a) 0.1 mbar (b) 0.2 mbar (c) 0.3 mbar (d) 0.4 mbar respectively	20
2.6	Upper three figures are showing Lissajous plots for two signal having same frequencies with varying phase differences while bottom three figures are showing Lissajous plots for phase difference of 90° with changing frequency [27]	23
2.7	Frequency bifurcation plot with the variation in the applied forced frequency.	24
2.8	Lissajous plot, winding number(ratio of driver frequency(f2) and driven frequency(f1)) vs driver frequency(f2)	25
3.1	In figures (a) and (b) values of nonlinear parameter ϵ is taken as 0.1 and 2 respectively.	29
3.2	In figures (a), (b) and (c) values of a, b and c of equation (3.18) are taken as 0.5, 1 and 0.5 respectively and values of A are increased as 0, 0.25 and 0.5 respectively.	34
3.3	The power spectrum is shown for $A = 0, 0.25$ and $0.5 \dots \dots$	35
4.1	Experimental setup for two coupled plasma sources. The pressures in chamber-1 and chamber-2 are 0.09 mbar and 0.1 mbar respectively.	41
4.2	Floating potential fluctuation signals for three different discharge voltages of Chamber-1 (a, b, c) are shown with corresponding power spectrum in (d).	42
4.3	Floating potential fluctuation signals for three different discharge voltages of Chamber-2 (a, b, c) are shown with corresponding power spectrum in (d).	43
4.4	(a), (b) fundamental frequency (error bar $\pm 5\%$) vs discharge voltage plots of chamber-1 and chamber-2 respectively	44

4.5	Time series, Lissajous and power spectrum plots with changing cou- pling strength between chamber-1 and chamber-2:- (a, b, c) uncou- pled, (d, e, f) Max. Coupling(0 $k\Omega$), (g, h, i) at 4.5 $k\Omega$, (j, k, l) at 15 $k\Omega$.	45
4.6	Frequency bifurcation plot of time series signals of chamber-1 and chamber 2 with decreasing value of coupling strength	46
4.7	In figures (a), (b) and (c) values of a_1, b_1, c_1 and N of equation (1) were taken as 1, 1, 0.5 and N=0 respectively and values of A_1 were increased as 0, 0.25 and 0.5 respectively. In figure (d) corresponding	40
4.8	power spectrum is shown for $A_1 = 0$, 0.25 and 0.5 In figures (a), (b) and (c) values of a_2, b_2, c_2 and N=0 of equation (2) were taken as 0.5, 1, 0.5 and N=0 respectively and values of A_2 were increased as 0, 0.25 and 0.5 respectively. In figure (d) corresponding	48
4.9	power spectrum is shown for $A_2 = 0, 0.25$ and $0.5 \ldots$. Discharge voltage vs fundamental frequency plot:(a) In equation (1) parameter values of a_1, b_1, c_1 and N is fixed at 1, 1, 0.5 and 0 respectively and A_1 is varied as (0:0.05:0.7), (b) In equation (2) parameter values of a_2, b_2, c_2 and N is fixed at 0.5, 1, 0.5 and 0	49
4.10	respectively and A_2 is varied as $(0:0.05:0.7)$ Time series, Lissajous and power spectrum plots with changing cou- pling strength(N) between equation-1 and equation-2:- fig.(a, b, c) No Coupling(N=0), fig.(d, e, f) N=0.05, fig.(g, h, i) N=0.03, fig.(j, h, l) N=0.015	50
4.11	Frequency bifurcation plot of equation (1) and equation (2) with decreasing value of coupling parameter (N= $0.05:0.001:0$).	52 53
5.1 5.2	Experimental setup for two coupled plasma sources Experimental observations of frequency pulling, frequency synchro- nization, phase flip bifurcations and hysteresis phenomenon between two inductively coupled plasma sources. Here, the fundamental fre-	57
5.3	Here, the synchronization region is enlarged due to stronger coupling between the sources when the inductive coil is placed at 6 cms from the cathode and is hence closer to the plasma column	60
5.4	Phase flip transition from an in-phase state to an anti-phase state occurring within one volt increase in the voltage of chamber-2	62
5.5	Phase flip transition from an anti-phase state to an in-phase state occurring within one volt decrease in the voltage of chamber-2	63
5.6	Numerical observations of frequency pulling, frequency synchroniza- tion, phase flip bifurcations and hysteresis phenomenon between two bath coupled Van der Pol equations. Coupling parameters are : (a)	00
	M = 0.06 and (b) $M = 0.1$	65

6.1	Experimental setup for two coupled plasma sources. The pressures in chamber-1 and chamber-2 are 0.1 mbar and 0.1 mbar respectively.	69
6.2	Fundamental frequencies of chamber-1(left) and chamber-2(right)	71
6.3	In these figures a1 and a2 denotes the signals from chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas respectively. In figures (a,b,c) time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown for chamber-1(at 470 Volt) and chamber-2(at 310 volt) plasmas when anodes of two chambers were not connected. In figures (d,e,f) and (g,h,i) time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown when anodes of two cham- bers were connected and discharge voltage of chamber-2 plasma was	
6.4	at 320 Volt and 435 Volt respectively	72
	charge voltages of chamber-2 were at 595, 680 and 725 Volt respectively	73
6.5	In this figure, we have plotted the winding number (ratio of driver frequency (f2) of chamber-2 and driven frequency (f1) of chamber-1) vs driver frequency (f2) of chamber-2 plasma. This plot is known as Davil's staircase plot which is used for quantifying the range in	
	which synchronization occur.	75
6.6	In figures 6(a) and 6(b), we have shown frequency bifurcation plots of chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma signals with the change in the discharge voltage of chamber 2 plasma respectively.	76
6.7	Fundamental frequency plot for equation $(6.1)(dot)$ and equation $(6.2)(circle)$: In Eq.(1) parameter values of a_1, b_1, c_1, N and A_1 are fixed at 0.5, 0.5, 0.1, 0 and 1, respectively and in Eq.(2), parameter values of a_2, b_2, c_2 and N are fixed at 0.5, 0.5, 0.1 and 0, respectively	70
6.8	and A_2 is varied as $(0:0.1:2)$ (a-c) Time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots for uncoupled $(N = 0)$ equations (6.1) and (6.2) when parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 =$ 0.3). (d-i) Time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots for con- stant coupling $(N = 0.03)$ for equations (6.1) and (6.2): (d)-(f) pa- rameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.3)$ (g)-(i) parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.8)$	78
6.9	(j)-(k) parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.5)$, (g) (f) parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.5)$, Frequency bifurcation plot for fixed frequency $(A_1 = 1)$ of equation (1) and increasing frequency $(A_2 = (0 : 0.05 : 2))$ of equation (6.2)	79
	by keeping coupling parameter $(N = 0.03)$ fixed	81

xi

Introduction

Synchronization phenomenon is fundamental in nature and has been seen in a variety of natural as well as man-made systems. In this phenomenon two or more coupled oscillators adjust their rhythms to oscillate in a unison manner. This doctoral thesis reports on experimental and numerical results of synchronization dynamics between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources. The primary emphasis is given to experimental studies related to frequency entrainment, frequency pulling, phase flip transition, hysteresis dynamics and harmonic synchronization. In order to understand the experimental observations, numerical simulations are also done using a model of two coupled Van der Pol equations.

This introductory chapter is organized as follows. In the next section, Sec. (1.1) we provide a brief introduction on synchronization and how one can understand the dynamics of coupled plasma systems by using this phenomenon. Sec. (1.2) gives details of the various models and tools adopted for the depiction of coupled plasma systems. A review of earlier work in this area is provided in Sec. (1.3) to put the present work in a proper perspective. Finally Sec. (1.4) and Sec. (1.5) discuss the motivation of this work and present an outline of the organization of the dissertation, respectively.

1.1 Synchronization

The first scientific observation of synchronization was reported way back in 1665 by Christian Huygen's [28], when he observed that the phases of the pendulum motion of two clocks hung side by side on a wall got synchronized after a while. However, for nearly two centuries after that observation, the phenomenon of synchronization did not receive much scientific attention. However, over the last fifty years or so, a large number of studies related to synchronization have been carried out started appearing in many branches of science and engineering. Some of the examples where this phenomenon has been observed and studied are: coherent flashes of light by a group of male fireflies [29–32], synchronized chirping of a group

of crickets [33, 34], synchronous prolonged clapping by an audience [35], animal gaits [36,37] and biological clocks [31,34,38,39], circadian rhythm [31,34,40], pacemaker cells in the heart [2,34,41–43], the synchronization of human female menstrual cycles [34,44], synchronization between coupled metronomes [45], phase locking of relativistic magnetrons [46], synchronization of coupled organ pipes [2,34,47], synchronization in coupled lasers [48–53], synchronization of oscillations of coupled self-oscillatory electronic circuits [1–3,54], chemical oscillators [55–58], synchronization between coupled mercury system [59–61] and Belousov-Zhabotinsky (BZ) reaction [34, 62–64], Josephson junctions SQUIDs [2, 34, 65, 66], Landau damping in plasma [6] etc.

The phenomenon of synchronization has also been exploited in many different types of applications like:

- 1. Enhancing the power output of coupled lasers: The power output from an array of coupled lasers does not necessarily get amplified even if all the lasers have the same frequency. This is because the asynchrony in their phases leads to a random distribution of their phases at any instant of time and consequently a sum of the individual amplitudes does not lead to a sum of the individual powers of the lasers. But if the lasers in the array are synchronized with one another then the total output power of the laser beam can be substantially increased [2, 67].
- 2. Controlling arrythmia in heart beats through externally induced synchrony of pacemaker cells: The invention of the pacemaker device, an electronic gadget that produces electrical oscillatory signals that can externally couple and regulate the synchronization of pacemaker cells of the heart has led to much amelioration of medical issues arising from an irregularly beating heart [2,34].
- 3. Synchronization induced effects have also been used in the treatment of diseases like acute Leukemia [2,68] and have helped in the prevention of diseases like Down's syndrome and cancer [2,69].

Synchronization does not always have beneficial effects. In many instances the onset of synchronization can lead to adverse consequences. Some well known examples of such adverse effects are:

1. Synchronization of neuronal cells in certain regions of the brain are suspected to be responsible for maladies like epileptic fits or Parkinson's disease whose effects can often be life threatening [2, 34, 70].

2. Danger to the structural integrity of mechanical structures as seen on the opening day of the Millennium bridge when synchronization between the lateral movement of the people's footsteps caused the bridge to sway more than 7 cms and required subsequent modifications in its structural design [34,71].

As is evident, synchronization can take place only when there is coupling between the oscillators and when the coupling is sufficiently strong and sustained over a time long enough for the interactions to induce a common rhythm or force a locking of phases. The study of synchronization is meaningful only among oscillators that are self-sustained i.e. those that can individually maintain stable oscillations that are internally driven. Such is the case for most natural oscillators such as the pacemaker cells in the heart, or the pendulum clock of Huygens or neuronal cells in the brain. Self-sustained oscillators are characterized by the following features:

- 1. They oscillate with their self-sustained internal energies and do not damp out with the passage of time.
- 2. Oscillation dynamics of these oscillators are defined by the oscillator itself and not by any external source of energy.
- 3. With some applied external perturbation, the time period of these oscillators can be changed but after removal of the external perturbation, they regain their unperturbed oscillatory behavior.

For studying synchronous behavior between self-sustained oscillators, mainly two types of coupling mechanisms are used (1) synchronization by external forcing (2) mutual synchronization.

(1) Synchronization by external forcing:- In this type of synchronization, oscillations of a self-sustained oscillator are forced by the oscillations of a stable frequency source. This is also known as unidirectional synchronization where oscillations of former are forced by latter but not vice-versa. In terms of frequency detuning of stable frequency source with constant amplitude, three types of synchronization regions can be defined when forcing periodic oscillations of a self-oscillatory source:-

1. *Frequency locking*: - If detuning frequency is small, i.e., coupling strength is large between the externally applied frequency and the oscillations of the self-sustained oscillator, then the oscillations of the latter are completely pulled by the oscillations of the former and this state is known as frequency

locked state. In this state, self-sustained oscillator oscillates with the same frequency as of the externally applied source.

- 2. Frequency entrainment: If detuning frequency is large such that externally applied frequency is not able to pull completely the oscillation frequency of the self-oscillatory source but strong enough that it changes the natural oscillation frequency of self-oscillatory source then this state is known as frequency entrainment state. In this state, self-oscillatory source oscillates with a frequency which is in between the natural oscillation frequency of the self-oscillatory source and the frequency of externally applied source.
- 3. *Frequency pulling*:- If detuning frequency is increased furthermore, i.e., coupling strength is decreased further such that externally applied frequency is not able to change the period of oscillations of self-sustained oscillator, but it makes the oscillator to oscillate in and around their natural frequency with the formation of sideband frequencies then this state is known as frequency pulling state.

(2) Mutual synchronization:- This type of synchronization is established between two or more than two coupled self-sustained oscillators where all the oscillators adjust their rhythms and come to a synchronized state. This kind of synchronization can be characterized in different ways with the change in the coupling strength between them. For two self-sustained oscillators, they are mainly defined as follows:-

- 1. *Complete synchronization*: Both amplitude and phase of the oscillators are synchronized, and they are completely locked with each other.
- 2. Lag synchronization: Amplitudes of both the oscillators are synchronized, but there is some time delay between their phases.
- 3. *Phase synchronization*: Amplitudes of two oscillators are different, but phases are locked with each other.
- 4. Generalized synchronization: There is some functional relationship between the output of the two oscillators. Like if one of the oscillators is defined as X and other as Y then after coupling their output should be like Y = f(X), where f is a functional parameter.
- 5. *Intermittent lag synchronization*: Oscillators most of the times are lag synchronized but with some intermittent bursts.
- 6. *Imperfect phase synchronization*: This is a kind of phase synchronization, in which there are some intermediate phase slips that occur between the oscillators.

Depending on the kind and strength of coupling some other types of synchronized behavior have also been observed in groups of coupled oscillators. These include *amplitude death* [2, 3, 72–74], *explosive synchronization* [60, 75], *Chimera states* [4, 76, 77] and *phase-flip transition* [5, 19–25, 78], etc.

- 1. Amplitude death: In this type of synchronization state, the amplitudes of all the coupled oscillators become zero and the system collapses to a fixed point at the origin of the phase space [2,3,47,72–74].
- 2. Explosive synchronization: This is a type of synchronization state, in which a population of coupled oscillators transits from a disordered state to an ordered (synchronized) state abruptly at a critical value of the coupling parameter, resembling a first order phase transition [60, 75]. The system also displays hysteresis behavior such that the reverse transition does not happen at the same point when coupling parameter is decreased.
- 3. Chimera state: This collective state is characterized by the co-existence of synchronous and asynchronous behavior in the system whereby a sub-population of the oscillators become synchronized while the rest behave asynchronously even though all the oscillators are identical and are identically coupled [4, 76, 77, 79].
- 4. *Phase-flip transition*: Phase flip is a type of synchronization process in which coupled oscillators abruptly change their phases either from an in phase state to an out of phase state or vice versa with only a slight change in the coupling strength [5, 19–25, 78]. This is a unique type of synchronization process which has recently attracted some attention in different fields of science.

1.2 A Plasma Medium as an Oscillator

A plasma is an ionized medium made up of electrons, ions, and neutral particles. The constituents interact with each other through electrodynamics forces and also through collisions with the neutrals. The dynamics of the charged particles are also strongly influenced by the presence of any external electric or magnetic fields. A plasma can exhibit a host of collective behavior in the form of wave motion of the particles at different characteristic frequencies and wave lengths. These waves constitute various forms of synchronized motion of its components resulting from their mutual interactions (coupling) and interaction with external fields. In this sense the collective dynamics of a plasma can often be modeled in terms of the synchronized states of a system of coupled oscillators. An effective demonstration of such an analogy was brought out in [6] where it was shown that the decay of a perturbation imposed on a system of coupled oscillators closely resembles that of Landau damping of waves in a plasma. The mathematical equivalence of the perturbation analysis is uncanny and reveals a deep connection between the collective dynamics of a plasma to that of a system of coupled oscillators. The analogy has been further exploited in many experimental studies of plasma systems driven by external periodic sources where the synchronous behavior of the plasma system has been modeled by a single nonlinear oscillator model. We discuss these works in the following section.

1.3 Synchronization Studies in Plasma Systems

As mentioned above, the collective motion in a plasma constituting a wave motion can often be simply modeled as a synchronized state of a group of coupled oscillators. In a further simplification the dynamical behavior of the entire system is represented by a the solution states of single nonlinear oscillator such as a Van der Pol oscillator. Much of the past work related to synchronization studies in a plasma has adopted such an approach and we will summarize those experimental and theoretical studies in the next two subsections.

1.3.1 Experimental Work

A majority of the past works on synchronization in a plasma have relied on a forced synchronization method in which oscillations of the plasma are induced and synchronized to an external stable frequency source (e.g. a function generator). In this type of synchronization, changes are only observed in the plasma behavior and not in the stable frequency source. By using this sort of forcing mechanism, different types of plasma instabilities like ion sound [14, 80, 81], ionization waves [82–84], ion-ion instability [85, 86], relaxation oscillations [15, 87–90], drift waves [91–96], flute modes instabilities [97], dust acoustic waves [98,99] and dust density waves [100, 101] etc. have been studied in terms of synchronization phenomenon.

In the early 1970s Keen and Fletcher have studied the suppression and enhancement of an ion-sound instability by nonlinear resonance effects [14], the mode-mode coupling of Van der Pol plasma instability [12], and subharmonic and harmonic forcing on ion- sound instability [80] etc. Similarly, Klinger et al. in 1990's and in early 2000, have studied various synchronization properties for different types of plasma instabilities like mode-locking and frequency pulling phenomenon for driven ionization waves [83], quasi-periodicity, mode-locking, and period doubling sequences towards chaos for driven plasma oscillations [13], frequency entrainment and frequency pulling process for driven self-oscillating thermionic discharges [87], frequency entrainment, quasi-periodicity, frequency pulling and period doubling etc. for periodically driven current oscillations. Similarly, various other synchronization properties for drift wave turbulence have been studied by applying external forcing in [91–94]. In 1990's Gyergyek et. al. have studied plasma relaxation oscillations and mode-suppression behavior for forced plasma relaxation oscillations [89] and also the nonlinear dynamics of a harmonically forced double layer [15]. Recently, in dusty plasma also, some works have been done where forced synchronization phenomenon is studied. Piel et. al. have studied synchronized dynamics of dust acoustic waves [98] and synchronization of dust density waves in anodic plasma [100]; Similarly, Goree et. al. have studied harmonic synchronization mechanism for dust density waves [99]. The chaotic synchronization between self-oscillatory chaotic oscillations of a plasma system and stable chaotic oscillations of a Chua circuit signal have been investigated in [16].

All the above mentioned studies are based on forced synchronization between a stable oscillatory source and a self-oscillatory source. Another class of studies has looked at synchronization phenomenon under different mechanisms such as delayed feedback and mutual synchronization between two evolving systems.

In delay feedback synchronization, oscillations of a plasma system are fed back to itself with some time delay or phase delay. This mechanism is very useful in suppressing various plasma instabilities [7-11, 102-108] and has been implemented in some of the tokamak experiments for suppressing plasma fluctuations.

Mutual synchronization (as explained in section 1.1) is a type of synchronization mechanism in which, two or more than two oscillators are mutually coupled with each other and all the oscillators adjust their rhythms to come into a synchronized state. Mutual synchronization is a most common type of synchronization phenomenon which is usually observed in natural world oscillators like the synchronous flashing of lights by fireflies and unison chirping of crickets etc. This kind of synchronization phenomenon is also realized in many laboratory scale experiments like chemical oscillators, lasers, electronic oscillators, mechanical oscillators, etc. But in plasma systems, there are very few reported works, where this type of synchronization phenomenon is seen. One of the works is by Fukuyama et. al. where they have reported spatio-temporal synchronization between instabilities of two different plasma systems through mutual coupling [18]. In this work, they have produced chaotic waves in two separate plasma systems and coupled them through a coupler and observed that with the increase in the value of the coupling strength, oscillations of both the systems go from an unsynchronized state to a synchronized state. Mutual synchronization between two electrical discharges coupled through inter-anode currents has been reported by Stan et. al. |17|.

In the context of a tokamak plasma, Guo and Diamond have noted the transition from a phase locked to a phase slip state during the evolution of the edge-localized (ELMy) H-mode to the quiescent (Q) H-mode [109]. More recently Zhao et. al. have reported experimental observations of the synchronization of geodesic acoustic modes (GAMs) and magnetic fluctuations in the edge plasma of the HL-2A tokamak [110]

1.3.2 Numerical Modeling Work

The Van der Pol equation or a modified form of this equation has been widely used as a basic equation to describe the dynamics of self-oscillations in diverse physical systems. This equation was first introduced by Balthazar van der Pol (1889-1959) in 1927 to model triode oscillations in electrical circuits [111–114] and is given by,

$$\ddot{x} - \epsilon (1 - x^2)\dot{x} + x = A * sin(t) \tag{1.1}$$

where the term on the right hand side represents an external driver. The solution of the basic Van der Pol equation, i.e. in the absence of the external forcing, and for $\epsilon > 1$ consists of a limit cycle oscillation - a self sustained oscillatory state. If external forcing is also included then, this equation is known as a forced oscillator equation, where self-oscillatory oscillations are forced by oscillations of a stable oscillator. The forced oscillator equation is a widely used equation for explaining many complicated forced synchronization processes like synchronization between heart beats and pacemaker [2, 42], forced electronic circuits [2, 3], etc. Coupled Van der Pol equations have been successfully used to model experimental results of mutual synchronization such as among coupled neurons [115, 116], the evolution of a geological fault between two coupled tectonic plates [117], etc.

Keen and Fletcher have used forced Van der Pol equation for describing experimental results of resonance effect [14] and harmonic synchronization effect [80] for ion sound instability. Similarly Klinger et. al. have used this equation for modeling experimental results of ionization wave [83] and relaxation type oscillations [14]. Recently Goree et. al. have also used forced Van der Pol equation for explaining experimental results of forced dust acoustic wave [99] etc. Stan et. al. have used coupled Van der Pol equations to explain experimental results of mutual synchronization between two coupled electrical discharges [17].

In our thesis work, we have used coupled Van der Pol equations with different sorts of coupling mechanisms for explaining experimental results of mutual synchronization between two coupled plasma systems.
1.4 Motivation of Thesis

The primary motivation for the research reported in this thesis is to understand how two isolated plasma systems can be synchronized and what the effect of different coupling schemes are on this process and what are the different synchronized states that one can achieve. Hence the study focuses on the following investigations:

- mutual synchronization between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources with direct coupling.
- mutual synchronization between two coupled plasma sources showing phaseflip transition using inductive coupling.
- mutual harmonic synchronization between two coupled plasma sources, in which one source acts as the driver for the other.

Wherever possible the experimental results have been explained using the Van der Pol equation, modified as per the requirements.

1.5 Organization of Thesis

This doctoral thesis reports the experimental and numerical results of synchronization dynamics between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources. The primary emphasis is given to experimental studies like frequency entrainment, frequency pulling, phase flip transition, hysteresis dynamics and harmonic synchronization, etc. Experimental results are explained on the basis of a model consisting of two coupled Van der Pol equations.

Chapter 2 describes the experimental setup, the diagnostics, the plasma production method, plasma characterization results, and the plasma oscillation dynamics. A description of the vacuum chamber, pumping unit, power supplies and shielding mechanism is also provided. The effect of the size of the electrodes on the anode glow oscillation dynamics is discussed and also results of change in oscillation dynamics with change in different plasma parameters are presented.

Chapter 3 is devoted to a theoretical/numerical study of the oscillation dynamics of two mutually coupled Van der Pol equations in order to provide a framework for the interpretation of experimental results. Firstly, a brief history of Van der Pol equations and its derivation from the basic plasma fluid equations are provided. The physical meaning of all the coefficients is discussed and their relation with plasma parameters is delineated. The role of the additional term in the equation on the oscillation dynamics is provided, and its importance with DC discharge voltage is discussed. The model oscillation dynamics of two mutually coupled Van der Pol equations is also discussed with different types of coupling mechanisms like direct and indirect couplings. For both direct and indirect couplings, effects of reactive and dissipative type couplings are discussed. Also, bath type coupling is introduced and its relevance to inductive coupling in an experimental situation is discussed.

In Chapter 4, the experimental results on the nonlinear dynamics of two coupled glow discharge plasma sources are presented. Firstly, the details of the anode glow oscillation dynamics are shown for each each glow discharge system with the variation in the discharge voltage. Then the dynamics of the coupled oscillation dynamics as a function of the variation in the coupling strength between the two glow discharge plasma sources is presented. The coupled dynamics displays a variety of nonlinear phenomena like frequency synchronization and frequency pulling. Numerical simulation results obtained using two coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations are compared to the experimental results and shown to be in good agreement with each other.

In Chapter 5, the experimental observation of a phase-flip transition in the frequency synchronization of two DC glow discharge plasma sources that are coupled in a non-invasive fashion is reported. When the fundamental oscillation frequency of the potential fluctuations of one of the sources is progressively increased, by raising its discharge voltage, a frequency pulling regime is observed followed by a synchronized regime that shows a frequency jump phenomenon. The jump is associated with a phase-flip transition that takes the synchronized state from an in-phase to an anti-phase state. When the process is reversed the transition takes place at a different frequency thereby exhibiting a hysteresis effect. A theoretical model consisting of two Van der Pol oscillators that are coupled to each other through a dynamic common medium eminently captures the essential features of our experimental observations.

In Chapter 6, synchronization dynamics is studied between two glow discharge plasma systems by coupling the anode glow oscillation frequencies of these discharges. In both the discharge systems anode glow oscillation frequencies were found to increase linearly with the increase in the discharge voltage and we have coupled these oscillations by keeping one at a fixed discharge voltage and varying the other. The nonlinear phenomenon like frequency entrained states were observed when oscillation frequencies of the varied discharge voltage system were close to the harmonic frequencies of fixed discharge voltage system and beyond these regions frequency pulling and chaos type states were observed. In this chapter, we also show a Devil's staircase like behavior of the two coupled plasma systems. Some region of the experimental results were modeled by numerical simulation of two coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations and these results are found to be in good agreement.

In Chapter 7, a detailed summary and possible future extensions of this thesis work are presented. In summary, results of unidirectional and mutual synchronization studies are discussed in detail. For unidirectional synchronization, the asymmetric nature of the frequency synchronized states and the merging of higher harmonic states with higher strength of external forcing are discussed. In mutual synchronization, results of both direct and indirect couplings are discussed and the main results are elaborated in detail. In direct coupling between fundamental oscillation frequencies of two sources, results of different synchronized states like frequency entrainment and frequency pulling with the change in coupling strength are discussed. Also, results of mutual harmonic synchronization are presented with the change in harmonic multiple of one of the source frequency. In indirect mutual coupling, results like phase-flip transition and hysteresis are presented. Finally a short discussion on how the results of this thesis work can be extended in the future is given. The possible directions to take are observations chaotic synchronization, chimera states and amplitude death phenomenon in coupled plasma systems. We also discuss some potential studies relevant for practical applications like plasma based surface coating technology using physical vapor deposition (PVD) mechanism. Synchronization effects could be useful in controlling defects and in increasing the thickness of such coatings. Also, the experimental setup used in this thesis work could be used as a table top experiment for understanding and teaching synchronization behavior in a class room environment.

2 Experimental setup and plasma characterization

In this chapter we provide a description of the experimental setup used for plasma formation and the different types of coupling employed to study the synchronization phenomena between waves in two coupled plasma devices. We also discuss various data analysis techniques that are used for plasma characterization.

2.1 Introduction

One of the earliest experimental studies related to mutual synchronization between plasma systems was carried out by Fukuyama et al. [18]. In their experiment plasma was produced in two separate Gisler tubes which were then coupled through a variable resistance. In the pressure regime in which they were operating, they had to deal with ionization instabilities that are typically very difficult to control. This difficulty limited their explorations to a very narrow regime of experimental parameters and synchronization phenomena. Our present objective is similar to that of Fukuyama et al [18] but our approach and experimental setup is considerably more flexible allowing us to carry out a host of different synchronization experiments. Our experimental system consists of two individual glass chambers in which glow discharge plasmas are created. In this system, anode glow oscillations are formed by making the size of the anode surface area to be very much smaller than the cathode surface area. The oscillations produced in this way can be controlled in a much more efficient manner as a function of the background pressure and discharge voltages. One can in fact obtain a wide range of oscillations that can be periodic, quasi-periodic or chaotic in nature. This broadens the range of synchronization experiments that can be done. Before carrying out the synchronization experiments we have done a detailed characterization of the plasma properties and the nature of oscillations in each device as a function of the background pressures and discharge voltages. Typical Paschen curves and discharge voltage vs current characteristics have been obtained in each case. The self-sustained periodic type oscillations obChapter 2. Experimental setup and plasma characterization

served near the minimum of the Paschen curve are used for our synchronization studies. For our regime of operation the discharge voltage vs current curve shows a linear relationship. The data consisting of floating potential fluctuation signals are visualized using a variety of techniques such as Lissajous plots, power spectra etc. and their variations noted as a function of the coupling strengths. In our analysis we also look for distinct signatures like frequency bifurcation, Devil's stair case behavior etc. to identify different synchronization regimes.

This chapter has been organized as follows. In Section 2.2, the experimental setup for synchronization studies is discussed in detail. Section 2.3 and Section 2.5 presents a description of the tools and techniques used to characterize the plasma medium and type/regime of synchronization. The requirement of plasma conditions for doing synchronization studies are explained in Section 2.4. Finally, Section 2.6 contains some discussion and a summary of the conclusions.

2.2 Experimental Setup

Our experimental setup, consisting of two coupled glow discharge plasma sources, is schematically shown in Fig.2.1.



Figure 2.1: Schematic of experimental setup for two coupled glow discharge plasma sources.



The pictures of experimental setup corresponding to above schematically diagram is shown in Fig.2.2.

Figure 2.2: Synchronization experimental setup picture.

The setup consists of two identical DC glow discharge plasma systems with almost same configurations. Each individual device primarily consists of a cylindrical glass chamber, a rotary pump, a gas feeding mechanism, shields from external noise, electrodes, power supply, etc., as can be clearly seen in Fig. 2.2

In the following subsections, the function and role of each component of our experimental setup is explained in detail.

2.2.1 Chambers and Pumping System

The entire set of synchronization experiments have been carried out in two separate cylindrical glass chambers with diameters of 15 cm and lengths of 35 cm, shown in Fig.2.3.

Chapter 2. Experimental setup and plasma characterization



Figure 2.3: Picture of cylindrical glass chambers.

Both the chambers are pumped down, using two different rotary pumps with pumping speeds of 250 lit/sec, to a base pressure of 0.001 mbar. After this, each chamber is filled with Argon gas (99.999% pure) through a precision gas dosing valve to reach working pressures in the range of (0.1 - 0.2) mbar. The choice of working pressure depends upon the experimental requirements of stable oscillations. The pressures in the chambers are measured by digital Pirani gauges which are mounted in each of the chambers.

2.2.2 Electrodes

For producing a plasma, planar electrodes are used with the diameters of the cathode and anode taken to be 7 cm and 0.2 cm respectively and the separation distance between them fixed at 20 cm. The size of the anode is chosen deliberately small as compared to the cathode in order to promote the formation of an anode glow around the anode surface area. This anode glow is the main source of the periodic oscillations in our system which are then used for the synchronization experiments. Nikulin [26] has provided a general prescription for producing anode glows or anode double layers in DC glow discharge plasma sources in which if the anode area is made smaller than $A_c \sqrt{m/M}$ (where A_c , m and M represent cathode area, electron mass and ion mass respectively) then the drop in potential around the anode becomes positive as compared to the plasma potential and that results

in the formation of an anode glow or anode double layer around the anode. For a zero drop in potential, the anode area formula can be written as:

$$A_0 = a \times A_c \sqrt{m/M} \tag{2.1}$$

where a represents the proportionality constant. If the anode size is made smaller than A_0 , then the electron collection area of the anode does not change but remains A_0 , which is a necessary requirement for maintaining current due to ions on cathode equal to current due to electrons on anode. For maintaining this condition both anode fall and anode sheath area increases, which results in a positive potential around the anode. In this positive potential electrons gain energy, which creates extra ionization in this region. The electrons produced by this extra ionization are captured by the anode and result in an accumulation of extra ions. These ions are repelled by the positive anode and that results in an increment of the anode sheath area. Due to this increment, electron flux entering in the anode sheath area increases and for maintaining the current equality, again this region shrinks. This process is repetitive in nature and produces an unstable double layer. This unstable double layer is the cause of oscillations in the system.

In our experiments, we have taken the cathode radius as 3.5 cm. Putting $(\sqrt{m/M} = 1/272)$ for Argon gas and taking the value of proportionality constant as a = 1 (for no loss of ions from anode) in equation (2.1), we get the anode radius equal to 0.21 cm, below which anode glow or anode double layer could be formed. We have chosen the anode radius as 0.1 cm which is less than the calculated radius 0.21 cm.

2.2.3 DC Power Supply

Power supplies are one of the vital components of a discharge system for producing a plasma and for controlling the plasma properties. For synchronization experiments, the role of power supplies is very crucial for controlling the discharge properties and the oscillation characteristics in a precise manner. Keeping in mind this requirement, we have used a separate regulated DC power supply for each of the chambers with a variable voltage rating ranging from 30 V to 1000 V. These power supplies have a least count of 1 Volt, i.e., voltages can be increased in steps of 1 volt which gives us precise control over the oscillation dynamics.

2.2.4 Shielding From External Noise

Each chamber is separately covered with SS mesh grids with proper grounding mechanism, such that oscillations of one chamber plasma do not influence the oscillations of other chamber plasma by leaking out from this SS enclosure. Also, Chapter 2. Experimental setup and plasma characterization

these SS enclosures help in reducing noise by shielding frequencies present in the environment which can influence the plasma oscillations.

2.2.5 Diagnostic

For measuring plasma properties like the electron temperature, the electron density, the floating potential and the plasma potential we use a standard Langmuir probe diagnostic. It consists of a cylindrical tungsten rod with length 20 mm and diameter 1 mm which is fitted inside a teflon tube. The Tungsten rod is brazed with stainless steel wire and the whole arrangement is fitted inside a teflon coated 6 mm hollow SS (stainless steel) pipe. The exposed part of the tungsten wire in the plasma was 10 mm. Two probes are made with the same configurations and placed in each of the chambers through ports as shown in the above figures 2.1 and 2.2.

All signals are recorded in an oscilloscope (Lecroy wave Surfer 424) and the floating potential oscillations are used to study the oscillation dynamics.

2.3 Plasma Characterization

In direct current glow discharge plasma systems, plasma exhibits different characteristics depending upon the applied discharge voltage between the electrodes, size of the electrodes, distance between the electrodes and pressure in the system etc. Also, for doing synchronization studies in this system some special type of self sustained oscillations has to generated. For this, systems have to be optimized for different working pressure and discharge voltages regimes, in which such type of oscillations can be generated. In this regard, we have done Paschen's curve and discharge voltage vs current analysis for these systems. The results are presented in the following subsections:

2.3.1 Paschen Curve

In 1889, F. Paschen formulated an experimental relation between the breakdown voltage of a gas the operating gas pressure (p) and the electrode spacing or gap (d). The curve describing this relation is known as the Paschen curve or Paschen law. The breakdown voltage is a function of the product of the pressure (p) and the inter electrode distance (d): $V_{breakdown} = pd$. For characterization of the plasma, the Paschen curve is drawn for each of the plasma systems by varying the neutral pressure while keeping the electrode spacing to be constant. A typical Paschen curve for the chamber-1 plasma system is shown in Fig. 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Paschen curve for (a) chamber-1 and (b) chamber-2 plasma systems with the variation in the neutral pressure for a constant distance of 15 cm between the electrodes. Paschen minimum is found to be at 0.12 mbar for both the systems.

It is observed that the Paschen minimum for each of the plasma system is around 0.12 mbar for a constant distance of 15 cm between the electrodes.

2.3.2 Discharge Voltage vs Current Characteristics

The Voltage-Current (VI) characteristics are strongly tied to the plasma characteristics and are used for determining the different regimes of plasma discharges. Klinger et al. have used this method for quantifying the different stable discharge modes for thermionic discharge systems [87, 118]. They have shown that at low discharge current a regime of anode glow mode (AGM) is produced while at a high discharge currents a temperature limited mode (TLM) occurs. Also, this transition from AGM to TLM mode occurs with a sudden jump in the value of the discharge current. We have also done such an analysis for our experimental system. In Fig. 2.5 (a, b, c and d), these characteristics are shown for chamber-1 plasma system at different pressures of 0.1, 0.2, 0.3 and 0.4 mbar respectively.



Figure 2.5: Discharge voltage vs current plot. At four different pressures of chamber-1 plasma system. (a) 0.1 mbar (b) 0.2 mbar (c) 0.3 mbar (d) 0.4 mbar respectively

From these plots, it is seen that with the increase in the discharge voltage, the discharge current is increasing and this increase is following an almost linear trend. It is also seen from these plots that at a given discharge voltage, the discharge current value is higher at high-pressure discharges. From these results, it is observed that there is no sharp transition occurring in the current value of the discharge current. This establishes the fact that our system remains in the anode glow regime and does not transit into the temperature limited mode in the range of pressures and discharge voltages considered in our experiment.

2.4 Plasma Conditions Required For Synchronization

In the Subsection 2.2.2, we have mentioned that the main source of oscillations in our experimental system is the fluctuations in the anode glow which are produced due to an asymmetry in the size of the electrodes. The oscillations produced in this way also depend upon various other factors like the discharge voltage, the pressure and the distance between the electrodes etc. By changing the values of these factors, different types of oscillations can be produced in the system. For our experimental results, oscillation dynamics of these oscillations are studied by changing the value of the discharge voltages and pressures with keeping the distance between the electrodes constant. For synchronization studies, one necessary requirement for the oscillation source is that it should be a self-oscillatory type. So before doing synchronization studies, it is checked that plasma source (i.e. anode glow oscillations) is of self-oscillatory type. To check this a perturbation method has been used, in which plasma oscillations are forced with some external source of oscillation like function generator. If plasma oscillations are changed with forcing by these external oscillations and after removal of this they regain their initial oscillations then such oscillation source is known as self-oscillatory type. For all the experimental results which we have report in this thesis, this test has been done and it is found that oscillations are of self-oscillatory type.

For a better understanding of the synchronization dynamics between the two glow discharge sources, oscillations in each of the plasma chamber are kept in the periodic regime. These oscillations are characterized with changing pressure as well as discharge voltages with constant anode to cathode surface area and distance between these electrodes. It is found that plasma oscillations have periodic characteristics at low discharge voltages for the pressure range of 0.07 mbar to 0.25 mbar and chaotic characteristics at higher pressures and discharge voltages. For synchronization experiments, pressures in each chambers are kept around 0.1 mbar (Paschen minima) such that periodic oscillations could be produced in each chamber. After this by playing with discharge voltages, oscillations of the two systems are brought close to each other.

2.5 Data Analysis Techniques

For analysis of the synchronization phenomenon between floating potential fluctuations of two systems, various analysis techniques are used. In this time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are drawn for oscillations of two systems. Frequency bifurcation and Devil's stair case plots are also drawn for defining different Chapter 2. Experimental setup and plasma characterization

synchronization regimes. In the following subsections basics of this analysis are elaborated.

2.5.1 Time Series Plot

For describing oscillations in the two systems, floating potential fluctuations recorded at equal interval of spaced time is plotted. These oscillations are recorded with a sampling frequency of 25 MS/s and a frequency resolution of 100 Hz.

2.5.2 Power Spectrum

This is a type of plot which provides the information of distribution of energy in different frequency components of a waveform. For a periodic time series, power spectrum can be expressed as a linear combination of oscillations whose frequencies are integer multiples of the basic frequency which is the Fourier series. For finding the characteristic modes present in the floating potential fluctuations, power spectral method has been used. Power spectrum has been calculated using the fast Fourier transform(FFT) method. The FFT is a mathematical method in which a function of time is transformed into a function of frequency.

2.5.3 Lissajous Plot

These plots were investigated by the French mathematician Jules-Antoine Lissajous in (1857-58) [27]. The shape of Lissajous figures depends on the ratio of the periods (frequencies), phases, and amplitudes of the two oscillations. In the simplest case, if the amplitude and phases of the two signals are equal then a straight line at an angle 45° is produced while if one of the oscillations is 180° out of phase then a straight line at an angle 135° is produced. If the phase difference between the two signals is 90° then a circle is formed. Similarly, if the periods of the two oscillations do not coincide exactly, then the shape of the formed ellipse change continuously. Lissajous pattern will not be observed if the periods differ substantially. However, if the periods are related by an integer ratio , the moving point will return to its original position in a period of time equal to the least multiple of the two periods, and a Lissajous figure with a more complex shape is produced. Some of the common shapes formed in Lissajous plots are shown in Fig. 2.6.



Chapter 2. Experimental setup and plasma characterization

Figure 2.6: Upper three figures are showing Lissajous plots for two signal having same frequencies with varying phase differences while bottom three figures are showing Lissajous plots for phase difference of 90° with changing frequency [27]

For describing synchronization behaviour between coupled oscillations of two glow discharge plasmas and coupled oscillations of Van der Pol equations the Lissajous plot technique has been used.

2.5.4 Frequency Bifurcation Plot

This is a type of plot which is used for describing different types of nonlinear modes present in a system. In this plot, frequencies present in a system are plotted on Y axis while variation in the controlled parameter is plotted on the X axis. Debajyoti et al. [119] have in the past plotted the oscillation frequencies of a DC glow discharge plasma system against the variation in the discharge voltage. Such plots are also used in describing different types of synchronization phenomenon. For forced synchronization process such plots are used in describing frequency synchronized and frequency pulling states as shown in Fig. 2.7, where the applied frequency vs forced plasma oscillation frequencies are plotted. In this

Chapter 2. Experimental setup and plasma characterization

figure, non-frequency locked region have three regimes which signify the formation of harmonics and their side bands. The upper two bands signify the first and second harmonics bands while lower band is formed due to the interaction between the side band frequencies of the first harmonic frequency. In frequency locked region(in middle part of the figure), the lower band frequencies are not formed because plasma oscillations are completely locked with the externally applied frequency. Due to this, side band frequencies of first harmonic frequency is not formed whose interaction creates lower bands of frequencies.



Figure 2.7: Frequency bifurcation plot with the variation in the applied forced frequency.

We have used these plots for describing different regimes of unidirectional and mutual synchronization phenomenon.

2.5.5 Devil's Stair Case Plot

This is a type of plot which is used for describing different harmonic synchronization regimes for a forced oscillatory system. In this plot winding number(W) is plotted against the driver frequency(f2) where winding number is a ratio of the driver frequency(f2) and the peak frequency(f1) of the forced self oscillatory system [99]. Flat regions of this plot indicate the existence of synchronization while the rising part of the curve indicates lack of synchronization. A typical Devil's staircase plot is shown in Fig. 2.8, for two coupled glow discharge plasma sources, where the oscillations of one of the systems are used as a driver for the other.



Figure 2.8: Lissajous plot, winding number(ratio of driver frequency(f2) and driven frequency(f1)) vs driver frequency(f2).

2.6 Summary and Conclusions

We have presented a detailed description of the experimental setup which has been used for the studies of different types of synchronization. The results of plasma characterizations are shown, which are used for optimizing the system for working pressure and discharge voltage regimes. Different data analysis techniques are introduced, which are used for analyzing the time series data and finding different synchronized states.

In later chapters (4, 5 and 6), mutual synchronization have been studied in detail. In the next chapter, the Van der Pol equation is introduced and a model based on it is used for investigating the mutual synchronization phenomenon numerically.

In this chapter we give a brief overview of the Van der Pol equation, which is widely used as a model equation to represent the nonlinear dynamics of a variety of oscillators and to study the synchronization phenomenon between two or more coupled oscillators. We then discuss how this equation can also serve as a useful model to represent nonlinear oscillations in a plasma by providing a derivation of this equation from first principles by using a fluid model of the plasma. Next, the dynamics of two such coupled equations under various coupling conditions are presented to provide a framework for comparison with experimental data on synchronization that are reported in subsequent chapters.

3.1 Introduction

The Van der Pol equation was proposed by B. Van der Pol in 1920 [112] to model current oscillations observed in triode vacuum tubes. Since then this equation or modified form of this equation has been used in several branches of science for studying a variety of nonlinear dynamic phenomena [2,3]. This equation possesses oscillatory solutions which are self-sustained and of the relaxation type which are quite appropriate for representing many real world oscillations [2,3]. Van der Pol had used this equation for simulating and controlling the irregular beating of a heart (cardiac "arrhythmias") [120]. There are numerous other examples where such type of oscillations [112–114, 121], oscillations observed in biological systems [42, 120, 122], neuronal excitations in the brain [115, 116], pacemaker neurons [41, 123], circadian rhythms in the chemistry of the eyes [124], power line radiation in the magnetosphere [125], dynamics of a geological fault between two plates [117], relativistic magnetrons [126], semiconductor laser [127] etc.

In its classical form the Van der Pol equation can be written as:

$$\ddot{x} - \epsilon (1 - x^2) \dot{x} + x = 0 \tag{3.1}$$

Here, dots over the variables represent derivatives over time t and ϵ is a parameter that controls the magnitude of the damping term. Note that the term proportional to ϵ can change its sign. Taking ϵ to be positive the sign of this term depends upon whether x^2 is greater or less than unity. For $x^2 > 1$ the term $(1 - x^2)$ is negative which implies that the damping force term will be positive and the value of x will decrease. If the value of x^2 is below unity then the damping force term has a negative value and serves to boost the value of x. Thus the solution settles on a limiting curve known as a limit cycle. The amplitude and frequency of the limit cycle solution can depend on the value of ϵ . If ϵ is small and positive i.e., $0 < \epsilon << 1$ then the solution of this equation is close to that of a simple harmonic oscillator(S.H.O) with a frequency close to that of S.H.O. (which is unity in this case). However, if ϵ is not small then the oscillations still have periodic characteristics but the frequency will be lower than that of the simple harmonic oscillator. Also, with increase in the value of ϵ relaxation properties of the oscillations increases. These results can be seen from Fig. 3.1(a and b) where with the increase in the value of ϵ , the period of the oscillations is seen to decrease with a concomitant increase in the relaxation properties.





Figure 3.1: In figures (a) and (b) values of nonlinear parameter ϵ is taken as 0.1 and 2 respectively.

This chapter has been organized as follows. Section 3.2 presents a brief overview of past studies of the Van der Pol (VPD) equations in the context of plasma systems followed by a derivation of the VPD equation from a fluid model of the plasma. A physical discussion of the various terms of the VPD equation, their relation to plasma parameters and the role of a constant DC source term is also provided. In section 3.3 numerical solutions of two coupled VPD equations are given and discussed for various scenarios relevant for our experiments. This includes various forms of coupling between the oscillators e.g. direct coupling and indirect or bath coupling. Section 3.4 contains a brief discussion and concluding remarks.

3.2 Van der Pol Model in Plasma Systems

In plasma systems, the Van der Pol equation has been used for studying various nonlinear instabilities occuring in ion acoustic waves [12,14,80,128,129], relaxation

type oscillations [87, 89], ionization waves [82, 84], beam driven waves [85, 86, 130], drift instability [91, 131, 132], anode oscillations [133], dust acoustic waves [98–101], etc. This equation has also been used for understanding various plasma nonlinear phenomena like plasma resonance [134], feedback stabilization [128], mode suppression [14, 89, 135], mode-mode coupling [12], frequency entrainment [132], amplitude collapse [136], periodic pulling [15, 137, 138], wave-wave interaction [139], spectral broadening [140] etc. In 1969, Keen and Fletcher used this equation for explaining mode-mode coupling phenomenon in a plasma system for the ion acoustic instability and gave a heuristic derivation of this equation from the basic plasma hydrodynamic equations [12, 14, 80]. After that, Shut'ko et al. [141], klinger et al. [83], etc. have also used this equation for studying various plasma instabilities and provided its derivation from the basic plasma fluid equations.

Kadji et al. [142] and and Debajyoti et al. [119] have used Van der Pol model for explaining results of an un-magnetized plasma and given a heuristic derivation using a two-fluid model. Our work also involves an un-magnetized DC plasma with all the essential features that are similar to their setup [119, 142]. We therefore outline a derivation of the Van der Pol equation from the basic plasma two-fluid model along similar lines to that of [119, 142].

The electron equation of motion is written as:

$$m_e \frac{dv_e}{dt} = e \nabla \phi + (T_e/n) \nabla n, \qquad (3.2)$$

where v_e is the electron velocity, T_e is the electron temperature, n is the plasma density, ϕ is the potential. Plasma is considered to be un-magnetized, therefore magnetic field part is taken to be zero in above Eq. (3.2). As instabilities present in our system are in the ion acoustic region, we can neglect the electron inertia and take $m_e = 0$.

The total density and potential can be written as

$$n = n_0 + n_1, (3.3)$$

$$\phi = \phi_0 + \phi_1, \tag{3.4}$$

where n_0 and ϕ_0 are unperturbed density and potential respectively while n_1 and ϕ_1 are perturbed density and potential respectively. Using these values in Eq. (3.2) and retaining only linear terms we obtain

$$\phi_1 = \frac{n_1 T_e}{n_0 e},\tag{3.5}$$

30

The ion equation of motion is written as

$$m_i \frac{dv_i}{dt} = -e \nabla \phi - m_i v_i \nu_i , \qquad (3.6)$$

where m_i , ν_i and v_i are ion mass, ion neutral collision frequency and ion velocity respectively.

The equation of continuity for ions is

$$\frac{\partial n_i}{\partial t} + \nabla .(n_i v_i) = S_i , \qquad (3.7)$$

Here, n_i is ion density and S_i is the ion source term. Using thermodynamic argument [12, 14, 80, 142], ion source term S_i can be given as

$$S_i = \alpha n_1 - \beta n_1^2 - \gamma n_1^3 - \dots$$
 (3.8)

where the constants α , β , and γ represent the strength of the ionization, two body recombination and three body recombination processes respectively [119].

Next, linearizing Eq. (3.7) by putting $n_i = n_0 + n_1$ and $v_i = v_0 + v_1$ and excluding higher order terms, we get

$$\frac{\partial n_1}{\partial t} + n_0(\nabla . v_1) + (v_1 . \nabla) n_0 = S_i$$
(3.9)

After differentiating w.r.t t

$$\frac{\partial^2 n_1}{\partial t^2} + \frac{\partial [n_0(\nabla . v_1)]}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial [(v_1 . \nabla) n_0]}{\partial t} = \frac{dS_i}{dt}$$
(3.10)

Combining the first and third terms on left hand side we obtain,

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} + \frac{\partial [n_0(\nabla . v_1)]}{\partial t} = \frac{dS_i}{dt}$$
(3.11)

Using Eq. (3.6) in Eq.(3.11), we have

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} - \frac{dS_i}{dt} + n_0 \frac{d[-(e\nabla\phi)/m_i - v_i\nu_i]}{dx} = 0$$
(3.12)

Putting Eq. (3.5) in Eq. (3.12), Eq. (3.12) becomes

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} - \frac{dS_i}{dt} - \frac{n_0 e}{m_i} \frac{\partial [\nabla (n_1 T_e/n_0 e)]}{\partial x} - n_0 \nu_i \frac{\partial \nu_1}{\partial x} = 0$$
(3.13)

31

Solving Eqs. (3.9) and (3.13), we get

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} - \frac{T_e}{m_i} \nabla^2 n_1 - \nu_i [S_i - \frac{\partial n_1}{\partial t}] = \frac{dS_i}{dt}$$
(3.14)

Now putting the value of S_i from Eq. (3.8) in above Eq. (3.14), we get

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} - \frac{T_e}{m_i} \nabla^2 n_1 + \left[\nu_i - \alpha + 2\beta n_1 + 3\gamma n_1^2\right] \frac{dn_1}{dt} - \nu_i [\alpha n_1 - \beta n_1^2 - \gamma n_1^3] = 0 \quad (3.15)$$

Taking spatial variation of the perturbed quantity n_1 of the form e^{ikz} and using expressions of ion sound velocity $c_s = \sqrt{(T_e/m_i)}$ and $\omega_0 = kc_s$ in Eq. (3.15), we get

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} + \left[\nu_i - \alpha + 2\beta n_1 + 3cn_1^2\right]\frac{dn_1}{dt} - \nu_i\left[\alpha n_1 - \beta n_1^2 - cn_1^3\right] + \omega_0^2 n_1 = 0 \qquad (3.16)$$

For ν_i (ion neutral collision frequency) $\rightarrow 0$, this equation can be reduced to

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} - \left[\alpha - 2\beta n_1 - 3\gamma n_1^2\right]\frac{dn_1}{dt} + w_0^2 n_1 = 0$$
(3.17)

Equation (3.17) is of the same form as that of the classical van der Pol type equation.

3.2.1 Physical Interpretation of Coefficients

In Eq. (3.17), the ionization coefficient α defines the linear growth rate of the self-sustained oscillations. The oscillations remain harmonic for small and positive values of $0 < \alpha << 1$, and oscillation frequency will be close to ω_0 . For large α values the oscillations will still remain periodic but with a oscillation frequency slower than ω_0 and a higher amplitude [3].

The two body recombination term β defines the degree of the asymmetry in Eq. (3.17). This term is not present in the ideal classical Van der Pol equation but inherently comes in the derivation of the Van der Pol equation from the two-fluid model. In two fluid model too, this term can be neglected because the probability of occurrence of two body recombination is very less. Although this term is less significant, but in some works in which harmonic of the oscillations are studied and have importance of both odd as well as even harmonics then, this asymmetry factor β plays a very important role and cannot be ignored. This asymmetry factor β inherently produces even harmonics in the oscillations of the Van der Pol equation [143, 144].

The three-body recombination term γ constitutes the main losses in a plasma. For a Van der Pol Eq. (3.17), this term provides a nonlinear saturation or damping effects in the oscillations of this equation. The self-sustained oscillations produced by this equation are due to interplay between the linear growth rate/ionization coefficient α and the nonlinear saturation term γ .

3.2.2 Role of Additional DC Constant Term A in Eq. (3.17)

The general form of Van der Pol Eq. (3.17) with additional DC constant term A on the right hand side is given as

$$\frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} - \left[\alpha - \beta n_1 - \gamma n_1^2\right] \frac{dn_1}{dt} + \omega_0^2 n_1 = A \tag{3.18}$$

Debajyoti et al. in their paper [119], have shown that an additional added DC constant term in the Van der Pol equation can change the ionization rate or linear growth term α of Eq. (3.17). Similar to [119], additional term influences the oscillations of our numerical and experimental systems. We found a good agreement between our numerical/experimental results and observation in [119]. Numerically, in Eq. (3.18) we have observed that with an increase in the additional term A, oscillation frequency of this equation is increasing linearly under certain limits. This can be seen in Figs. (3.2(a, b, and c)) where, three time series plots are shown with three increasing values of A term.



Chapter 3. Van der Pol equation to study the dynamics of coupled plasma systems

Figure 3.2: In figures (a), (b) and (c) values of a, b and c of equation (3.18) are taken as 0.5, 1 and 0.5 respectively and values of A are increased as 0, 0.25 and 0.5 respectively. 34

From these plots it can be seen that oscillations are increasing with an increase in the value of constant term A. A clearer picture of this dynamics can be seen from the power spectrum plot of these time series, shown in Fig. (3.3).



Figure 3.3: The power spectrum is shown for A = 0, 0.25 and 0.5

The DC term can be related to the discharge voltage in our experiments and as we will subsequently show in later chapters it helps in modeling our synchronization experimental results.

Thus far we have considered an individual system with and without a DC source term. In the next section, we will consider the coupled dynamics of two VDP equations and examine their mutual synchronization phenomena.

3.3 Coupled Oscillation Dynamics

The main motivation of this thesis work is to study experimentally, mutual synchronization phenomenon between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources. For getting more insight into the experimental results, numerical modeling is also done by using two mutually coupled van der Pol type equations. The main reasons for choosing this equation for such studies are: (1) This equation inherently produces self-oscillatory oscillations, which is a necessary requirement for doing synchronization studies. (2) The oscillations of this equation have relaxation properties, which is of the same type as in our experimental signals. (3) This equation can be derived from the basic plasma fluid equations and contains all the essential features for describing different types of plasma oscillations. By considering these characteristics of the Van der Pol equation, two Van der Pol type equations with different sorts of coupling schemes namely direct and indirect couplings are used for explaining experimental results of mutual synchronization between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources. In next two sections, direct coupling and indirect coupling schemes are described in detail.

3.3.1 Direct Coupling

In this type of coupling mechanism, all the oscillators are directly connected with each other. This is a well-studied coupling mechanism which has been observed in a variety of systems [1-3,39,145,146]. In the experimental results of chapters 5 and 7, of this thesis, this type of coupling mechanism is used for synchronizing oscillations of two glow discharge plasma sources [147]. For explaining our experimental results, we do numerical modeling using same type of direct coupling mechanism between two Van der Pol type equations. In Eqs. (3.19) and (3.20) [147-149], such coupling is shown between two Van der Pol type equations:-

$$\ddot{x} - (a_1 - b_1 x - c_1 x^2) \dot{x} + x = M(y - x) + N(\dot{y} - \dot{x}), \qquad (3.19)$$

$$\ddot{y} - (a_2 - b_2 y - c_2 y^2) \dot{y} + y = M(x - y) + N(\dot{x} - \dot{y}), \qquad (3.20)$$

where (a_1, b_1, c_1) and (a_2, b_2, c_2) in (3.19) and (3.20) are constant quantities that are a measure of the linear growth rate, the degree of asymmetry and the amount of nonlinear damping respectively while x and y represent the dependent variables. Here, in Eqs. (3.19) and (3.20), two types of couplings are shown in the right hand side of these equations. First term is known as reactive coupling or displacement coupling which is proportional to the difference of the two dependent variables while second term is known as dissipative or velocity coupling which is proportional to the difference in the first derivative quantities of the two dependent variables. The constant parameters M and N quantify the strength of reactive and dissipative couplings respectively. If M term in Eqs. (3.19) and (3.20) are taken as zero then

only dissipative coupling is provided with a strong coupling strength N. Then in mutual coupling, frequencies of both the oscillators move towards each other and have same frequencies which lies in between their original frequencies [3]. If N term is taken as zero and only reactive coupling is provided then results will not be the same as in the case of dissipative coupling. In this case, with mutual coupling there is a competition between oscillations of two oscillators and the final frequency does not settle in between the original natural frequencies of the two individual oscillators [3].

3.3.2 Indirect Coupling or Bath Coupling

In the previous section, the direct coupling mechanism was discussed in which, oscillators were directly coupled with each other. But in nature there are numerous examples where oscillators get synchronized, even though there is not any direct interaction between the oscillators. For instance; cellular populations communicating via a common medium [150, 151], pendulum clocks mounted on the same wooden beam [152], chemical oscillators interacting via a common solution [153], global oscillation of circadian oscillator [40], cold atoms interacting with electromagnetic field [154], lasers connected via a common amplifying medium [155], and indirectly coupled systems [156]. In this type of coupling mechanism, the coupling can be established between the oscillators by various ways like, via same common medium in which oscillators are placed or via some dynamic environment etc. In this thesis work, we have also presented experimental results of synchronization between two indirectly coupled plasma sources [157]. These results are verified by numerical modeling results which are done by using two bath coupled van der Pol equations. Here, the bath is acting as a third common medium for maintaining indirect coupling between the two equations |124|. Below in Eqs. (3.21), (3.22)and (3.23), we present this form of bath coupling between two VPD oscillators:

$$\ddot{x} - \epsilon_1 (1 - x^2) \dot{x} + x = M(z - y) \tag{3.21}$$

$$\ddot{y} - \epsilon_2 (1 - y^2) \dot{y} + y = M(z - x)$$
(3.22)

$$\dot{z} = M(z - x) + M(z - y)$$
 (3.23)

where x and y represent the dependent variables of oscillators (3.21) and (3.22) respectively. The variable z represents the dependent variable in the bath and its dynamics is governed by the inputs from both the oscillators. Here, M is a measure of the coupling strength and ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 are the nonlinear coefficients governing the dynamics of the two systems. In Eq. (3.23), bath coupling is shown which represents a third medium where oscillations of two oscillators (3.21) and

(3.22) are linked with each other. This is an indirect coupling mechanism, where oscillators are not directly connected with each other but connected via a third medium.

3.4 Summary and Conclusions

In this chapter, a derivation of the Van der Pol equation from the basic plasma fluid equations has been provided and the physical meaning of all the constants and variables have been discussed. Also, the role of a DC constant source term on the oscillation dynamics of Van der Pol equation is presented. Coupled dynamics between two Van der Pol equations with both direct and indirect couplings is introduced in order to use them as models for interpreting our experimental results of synchronization between two coupled plasma sources.

In chapter 4 and 6, mutually coupled Van der Pol equations are used for simulating the experimental results of two directly coupled plasma sources. Similarly, in chapter 5, bath coupled Van der Pol equations are used for explaining the results of two indirectly coupled plasma sources. In the next chapter, we will present experimental/numerical results of mutual synchronization between two coupled plasma sources.

Mutual synchronization studies via direct coupling

In this chapter, we discuss the mutual synchronization between two directly coupled plasma systems. We also present numerical simulations to understand the experimental observations with the help of two coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations which are directly coupled with each other.

4.1 Introduction

In the past, very few studies have been devoted to the investigation of mutual synchronization between two plasma systems except [18] where this phenomenon was studied between two double plasma devices and [17] where it was investigated in two electrical discharges. In [18] the emphasis was on investigating the interaction between chaotic oscillations excited in two coupled glow discharge plasmas and the observation of spatio-temporal synchronization between them.

In this chapter, we present experimental studies on interaction between coherent oscillations in two glow discharge plasma devices. For this, a direct coupling mechanism is chosen for connecting the anodes of the two systems with a variable resistance in between them. The basic oscillations in each device are due to anode glow instabilities [15,83,88,158,159] and we demonstrate the occurrence of various nonlinear collective states as a function of the coupling strength. These include frequency pulling as well as frequency entrainment (synchronization) with increasing strengths of the coupling. We have also carried out a numerical simulation to understand the experimental observations with the help of two coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations [143,144] which are directly coupled with each other.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 4.2 we have provided details of the experimental setup. Section 4.3 contains results of the characterization studies of each device followed by the results from their mutual coupling. In section 4.4 we

have discussed the numerical simulation results obtained from the model equations of the asymmetric Van der Pol type. Brief conclusion is given in section 4.5.

4.2 Experimental Setup

The experiments were carried out using two separate glass chambers with diameters of 15 cm and lengths of 35 cm each. A schematic of the experimental setup is shown in Fig. 1. In both the chambers the diameters of the anode and the cathode were taken as 0.2 cm and 7 cm respectively and the distance between these electrodes was set at about 20 cms. The diameter of the anode was chosen to be smaller than the cathode diameter to facilitate the formation of an anode glow which has been attributed to the presence double layers [26, 160, 161] by concentrating the space charges on to a small surface area. Both the chambers were independently covered with a steel mesh and a proper grounding was done so that the oscillations generated during the experiments would not leak out of a chamber and interact with the plasma in the other chamber. In each chamber a cylindrical Langmuir probe of length 10 mm and diameter 1 mm was placed for measuring the plasma floating potential fluctuations and other plasma parameters. Both the chambers were evacuated to a base pressure of 0.001 mbar and after that were filled with Argon gas to a pressure of 0.09 mbar and 0.1 mbar respectively. A DC glow discharge plasma was produced in chamber-1 by grounding the anode through a 10 $k\Omega$ resistance. When a discharge was struck in the plasma chamber an anode glow was observed around the anode accompanied by floating potential fluctuations which settled to a stable periodic type of oscillations with further increase of the discharge voltage.

A similar procedure was followed in chamber-2 and when the floating potential fluctuations of this chamber also displayed a periodic type of oscillations then the anodes of the two chambers were connected through a variable resistance as shown in Fig. 6.1. The floating potential fluctuations of the two chambers were recorded in a Lecroy Wave Surfer-424 oscilloscope. The typical data length of the recorded signals consisted of about 250000 points with a sampling frequency of 25 MS/s and a frequency resolution of 100 Hz. From Langmuir probe measurements the typical plasma density and electron temperatures in these chambers were determined to be in the range of $(10^8 - 10^9) \ cm^{-3}$ and $(1-2) \ eV$ respectively.

Chapter 4. Mutual synchronization studies via direct coupling



Figure 4.1: Experimental setup for two coupled plasma sources. The pressures in chamber-1 and chamber-2 are 0.09 mbar and 0.1 mbar respectively.

4.3 Experimental Results

4.3.1 Frequency Dynamics of the Uncoupled System

To understand the combined dynamics of the two coupled plasma devices we first characterized the dynamical behaviour of each device in their uncoupled state. In this subsection we describe the experimental findings from each individual plasma device - in particular the characteristics of their anode glow oscillations [15,160,161] as a function of the discharge voltage. Data from chamber-1 is shown in Fig. 4.2(a, b and c) as time series signals for three different discharge voltages and the power spectra of these signals are shown in Fig. 4.2(d). Similarly Figs. 4.3(a, b, c and d) show the time series signals and their power spectra for three different Chapter 4. Mutual synchronization studies via direct coupling

discharge voltages of chamber-2. From these figures it can be seen that, within the range of the applied voltages, the oscillation frequencies of the fluctuations in both the systems increase monotonically with the discharge voltage. This is seen even more clearly in Figs. 4.4(a) and 4.4(b) where the fundamental frequencies vs the discharge voltage plots for chamber-1 and chamber-2 respectively, are shown. These frequencies have a near linear dependence on the discharge voltages for both the systems.



Figure 4.2: Floating potential fluctuation signals for three different discharge voltages of Chamber-1 (a, b, c) are shown with corresponding power spectrum in (d).

4.3.2 Synchronization Between Two Coupled DC Glow Discharge Plasmas

We now discuss the combined dynamics of the two coupled plasma devices. In Fig. 4.5 the floating potential fluctuation signals, Lissajous plots and power



Figure 4.3: Floating potential fluctuation signals for three different discharge voltages of Chamber-2 (a, b, c) are shown with corresponding power spectrum in (d).

spectrum graphs are shown for chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas with different coupling strengths between their anodes. For the synchronization experiment the discharge voltages in the two chambers were chosen to be such that the floating potential fluctuation frequencies of both the systems were close to each other. Thus, in the absence of coupling, the individual fundamental frequencies of the two chambers were around 255.2 kHz and 262.5 kHz with the corresponding DC currents being 0.93 mA and 1.21 mA respectively. The two devices were then coupled through a variable resistor as shown in Fig. 1 which allowed us to vary the coupling strength by varying the value of the resistance. Zero resistance corresponds to maximum coupling strength.

Fig. 4.5(d)-4.5(f) show the results of the maximum coupling case where we find the floating potential fluctuation frequencies of both the systems to be locked to





Figure 4.4: (a), (b) fundamental frequency (error bar $\pm 5\%$) vs discharge voltage plots of chamber-1 and chamber-2 respectively.

a common frequency that is intermediate in value between the frequencies of the uncoupled system. This entrained state is maintained with decreasing coupling strengths up to a coupling resistance value of 4.5 $k\Omega$ as can be seen in Fig. 4.5(g)-4.5(i). With a further increase in the value of the resistance the oscillations in the two systems go over to a frequency pulling state as is evidenced by the emergence of sideband frequencies shown in Fig. 4.5(j)-4.5(l). These states can also be easily observed in Fig. 4.6 in which plots of the coupling strength vs fundamental frequencies of the two systems are shown. This figure shows the nature of the oscillation frequencies in the two systems as a transition from the frequency entrained state to the frequency pulling state takes place.


Figure 4.5: Time series, Lissajous and power spectrum plots with changing coupling strength between chamber-1 and chamber-2:- (a, b, c) uncoupled, (d, e, f) Max. Coupling(0 k Ω), (g, h, i) at 4.5 k Ω , (j, k, l) at 15 k Ω .





Figure 4.6: Frequency bifurcation plot of time series signals of chamber-1 and chamber-2 with decreasing value of coupling strength.

4.4 Numerical Modeling Results

To get some insight into the individual as well as the coupled state behaviour of the two plasma devices we have modeled their individual dynamics with the help of an asymmetric Van der Pol type equation. Variants of such a model have been used in the past to understand the nonlinear behaviour of glow discharge plasmas [14,80,83,119,142] and a heuristic derivation [14] has been given in Chapter 3. Our model coupled equations are of the form,

$$\ddot{x} - (a_1 - b_1 * x - c_1 * x^2)\dot{x} + x = N * (\dot{y} - \dot{x}) - A_1$$
(4.1)

$$\ddot{y} - (a_2 - b_2 * y - c_2 * y^2)\dot{y} + y = N * (\dot{x} - \dot{y}) - A_2$$
(4.2)

where (a_1, b_1, c_1, A_1) and (a_2, b_2, c_2, A_2) in equations (1) and (2) are constant quantities that are a measure of the linear growth rate, the degree of asymmetry, the amount of nonlinear damping and the magnitude of DC bias respectively. The dependent variables x and y represent amplitudes of voltage oscillations and the parameter N quantifies the strength of the coupling parameter. The form of the coupling is chosen to be of the dissipative type and is proportional to the difference in the first derivative quantities of the two dependent variables.

4.4.1 Frequency Dynamics of a Single Asymmetric Van Der Pol Type Model Equation

A numerical solution of eqn.(4.1) with constant parameter values of $a_1 = 1, b_1 = 1, c_1 = 0.5, N = 0$ for various values of the DC parameter A_1 is found to qualitatively display a behaviour similar to that observed for anode glow oscillations in a single glow discharge plasma device. This can be seen from the plots of the signal time series, and power spectra obtained from the numerical solution of eqn.(4.1) and plotted in Fig. 4.7(a-d) that show a near linear increase in the oscillation frequencies with increasing values of A_1 . Similarly in Fig. 4.8(a-d) the time series signals and the corresponding power spectra obtained from numerical solutions of (4.2) are shown for a set of parameter values of A_2 with $a_2 = 0.5, b_2 = 1, c_2 = 0.5$ and N=0.

In Figs. 4.9(a) and 4.9(b) plots of the DC parameter values vs the fundamental frequency of the time series signals generated for different parameters of A_1 and A_2 are shown. From Figs. 4.7,4.8 and 4.9 it can be seen that the natural frequencies of the signals of the two uncoupled asymmetric Van der Pol oscillators keep increasing with the increase in the DC parameter values (A_1 and A_2) over the range plotted in the figures. These equations were solved using a fourth order Runge-Kutta method with a time step of δt =0.06 and the total number of data points were taken to be around 250000.





Figure 4.7: In figures (a), (b) and (c) values of a_1, b_1, c_1 and N of equation (1) were taken as 1, 1, 0.5 and N=0 respectively and values of A_1 were increased as 0, 0.25 and 0.5 respectively. In figure (d) corresponding power spectrum is shown for $A_1 = 0$, 0.25 and 0.5

4.4.2 Dynamics of Two Coupled Asymmetric Van Der Pol Type Equations

We now discuss the nature of the dynamics when the two model equations are coupled to each other in the manner shown in (4.1) and (4.2). We note that in the absence of coupling the individual Van der Pol oscillator model that we have chosen has 4 parameters (a, b, c, A) which govern the nonlinear dynamics of the oscillation. The parameter a > 0 (termed as the linear growth rate term) is physically identified with the ionization rate in the plasma and is the source of the linear self-excited instability in the system. In the nonlinear regime it influences both the amplitude and frequency of the saturated state. The amplitude is governed by the balance between the growth rate and the nonlinear damping (represented by the c > 0 term). The frequency of the nonlinear oscillation (as discussed in [3]) is



Figure 4.8: In figures (a), (b) and (c) values of a_2, b_2, c_2 and N=0 of equation (2) were taken as 0.5, 1, 0.5 and N=0 respectively and values of A_2 were increased as 0, 0.25 and 0.5 respectively. In figure (d) corresponding power spectrum is shown for $A_2 = 0$, 0.25 and 0.5

inversely proportional to a i.e. the frequency decreases as a increases. The driving term A (associated with the discharge voltage) also contributes to the ionization and in turn influences both the growth of the instability (and hence the saturated amplitude) as well as the frequency of the oscillation. The dependence of the frequency on A is however opposite to that of a i.e. the frequency increases as A is increased as shown in Fig. 4.9. To mimic the experimental results, where the two chambers have different pressures and different discharge voltages we have primarily adjusted the parameters (a_1A_1) and (a_2, A_2) while holding all other parameters constant, so that the ratio of the fundamental frequencies of the two oscillators are in the same ratio as in the experimentally uncoupled situation. Our chosen parameter values are $(a_1 = 1, b_1 = 1, c_1 = 0.5, A_1 = 0.3)$ in equation (1) and $(a_2 = 0.5, b_{=}1, c_2 = 0.5, A_2 = 0.6)$ in equation (2). In Fig. 4.10 the time series





Figure 4.9: Discharge voltage vs fundamental frequency plot: (a) In equation (1) parameter values of a_1, b_1, c_1 and N is fixed at 1, 1, 0.5 and 0 respectively and A_1 is varied as (0:0.05:0.7), (b) In equation (2) parameter values of a_2, b_2, c_2 and N is fixed at 0.5, 1, 0.5 and 0 respectively and A_2 is varied as (0:0.05:0.7)

signals, Lissajous plots and corresponding power spectra are shown for different values of the coupling parameter N in equation (1) and (2). From this figure it can be seen that when the two equations are uncoupled (N=0) then the corresponding frequencies are different and there exists no correlation between their time series (see Fig. 10(a-c)). When they are coupled with a coupling strength of N=0.05, the frequencies of the two systems become the same i.e their frequencies are entrained to a value which is in between that of the frequencies of the uncoupled systems (see Fig. 10 (d-i)). As the value of the coupling strength is decreased to N=0.015, we see the formation of beat frequencies (see Fig. 4.10 (j-l)) indicating the onset of the frequency pulling state. In Fig. 4.11 the frequency bifurcation plot is shown with decreasing values of the coupling parameter N. These results closely resemble the experimental dynamical behaviour of the two coupled plasma discharges and lend credence to the utility of the model equations in understanding the dynamics of the coupled anode glow oscillations.



Figure 4.10: Time series, Lissajous and power spectrum plots with changing coupling strength(N) between equation-1 and equation-2:- fig.(a, b, c) No Coupling(N=0), fig.(d, e, f) N=0.05, fig.(g, h, i) N=0.03, fig.(j, k, l) N=0.015.



Figure 4.11: Frequency bifurcation plot of equation (1) and equation (2) with decreasing value of coupling parameter (N=0.05:0.001:0).

4.5 Discussion and Conclusions

In this chapter we have investigated the coupled dynamics of two glow discharge plasma devices with a particular focus on synchronization phenomenon. The basic oscillation frequencies we have studied are those corresponding to anode glow oscillations. Characterization studies of the individual plasma devices show that the frequency of these oscillations increases with increase in the discharge voltage. These oscillations are probably due to ion acoustic instabilities or ionization instabilities, and since we satisfy the conditions for triggering these instabilities, the increase in the frequencies also may be due to a combination of both temperature and density increase with discharge voltage. The primary cause for this increase can be attributed to an increase in the electron temperature resulting from a higher voltage and the direct impact this higher temperature has on the ionization rate contributing to the anode glow oscillation [15, 160, 161]. To model this behaviour of the anode glow oscillations, we have adopted an asymmetric Van der Pol type equation with a DC source term that represents the bias voltage. Numerical solutions of this equation for different values of the DC bias term display a similar rise in the oscillation frequency as a function of the DC parameter. The presence of the asymmetry term was found to be quite important. If the asymmetry term is absent in the model equations (4.1) and (4.2) then the frequency spectrum of the numerical solutions have only odd multiples of frequencies of the fundamental and therefore do not correctly model the experimental situation where both odd and even multiples of the basic frequencies are seen to exist.

Our synchronization experiments trace the changes in the oscillation frequencies of the two plasma devices as a function of the coupling strength. When the coupling strength is high then a frequency entrained state is observed with the frequencies of the two devices synchronized to a common frequency that is intermediate in value to the individual frequencies of the uncoupled devices. As the coupling strength is decreased a bifurcation behaviour is found to occur below a threshold value resulting in a frequency pulling state that is characterized by the formation of beat frequencies. This behaviour is also well simulated by the model equations (4.1) and (4.2).

To conclude, our experiments provide a clear demonstration of the phenomena of frequency synchronization and frequency pulling of anode glow oscillations in plasma glow discharge devices that can form the basis of future dynamical system experiments in plasma systems such as the exploration of chaos or amplitude death phenomenon. The model equations developed in support of our present experiments can help in identifying parametric domains for such explorations.

5

Phase-flip transition via indirect coupling

In this chapter, a detailed experimental study of two glow discharge plasma sources that are indirectly coupled is presented. Novel results pertaining to phaseflip transitions and hysteresis are highlighted.

5.1 Introduction

In nature, apart from direct coupling, there are numerous examples of oscillators which show synchronization without any direct interaction [28]. In such synchronization, oscillators can establish an indirect form of coupling between them by interacting through a common medium in which they are placed or via some dynamic environment etc. Such a type of coupling mechanism is also known as bath coupling.

In synchronization, an interesting collective phenomenon that has attracted some recent attention is that of a phase-flip (PF) transition. In this collective phenomenon a fully synchronized state of oscillators abruptly changes its relative phase e.g. a system of two coupled oscillators switches from an in-phase state to a π out-of-phase state [5, 19–25]. A striking example of a PF transition is the spontaneous change of gait in quadruped mammals e.g. when they switch from a trot to a galloping gait [162,163]. PF transitions have been induced in some simple experimental systems such as coupled electro-chemical cells [21] or coupled nonlinear electronic circuits [5] by introducing time delay in the coupling mechanism. More recently two theoretical studies have demonstrated that a PF transition can also be induced by a relay coupling [24] or a form of environmental coupling [25].

To the best of our knowledge, a PF transition has never been observed in a more complex medium like a plasma system although a number of studies have observed frequency synchronization in coupled or externally driven plasma sources [14-16, 18, 80, 83, 84, 87, 88, 90, 91, 95, 99, 138, 147, 164, 165]. In this chapter we report the first experimental observation of a PF transition in the frequency synchronized state of two coupled DC glow discharge plasma sources. These sources are coupled in a non-invasive fashion that relies on an inductive mechanism of communication between the two systems and which is responsible for the PF transition without the need for any time delay in the coupling. We also observe a hysteresis in the onset of the transition as we scan the synchronization region along the increasing and decreasing directions of the frequency of one of the sources. The essential features of our observations are well reproduced by a mathematical model of the system consisting of two Van der Pol oscillators coupled through a common dynamical medium. Our results can be useful in understanding the collective behavior of plasmas subjected to external radio frequency waves and can also provide a convenient means of controlling fluctuations of such plasmas by using the non-invasive technique demonstrated in our experiment.

The present chapter has been organized as follows. In Section 5.2, we have described the experimental setup which is used to study the indirect coupling phenomena and investigated the existence of a phase-flip transition in the frequency synchronized regime of two indirect coupled glow discharge plasma sources. Numerical results are described in Section 5.3. Finally, Section 5.4 contains some discussion and concluding remarks.

5.2 Experimental Setup

Our experimental setup, consisting of two coupled glow discharge plasma sources, is schematically shown in Fig. 5.1. Each discharge system, built from a glass chamber of diameter 15 cm and length 35 cms, contains an anode of diameter 0.2 cms and a cathode of diameter 7 cms. The distance between the cathode and

anode is set at 15 cm and a glow discharge Argon plasma is created by applying a DC voltage between the anode and cathode.



Figure 5.1: Experimental setup for two coupled plasma sources.

The two systems are operated independently and are isolated from each other by enclosing them individually with a steel mesh and giving a proper grounding. The systems are then coupled in an inductive manner by a length of copper wire (of diameter 2 mm) which is closely wound ten times around each glass chamber and whose two ends are shorted. The coupling can be broken by a mechanical on/off switch that breaks the wire continuity. The position of the closely wound bunch of wires can be moved by sliding it along the surface of the glass tube. This form of coupling is totally non-invasive as it does not involve the use of any physical probes or density sources within the plasma and acts solely through the external wire inductively picking up electromagnetic signals of the plasma and in turn influencing the signals by its own electromagnetic activity.

In each of the chamber a DC glow discharge plasma is typically formed at an operating pressure of 0.1 mbar and at a discharge voltage above 320 V. The fluctuations of the plasma are characterized through direct measurements of the floating potential oscillations of the two Langmuir probes using a channel-isolated digital storage oscilloscope and then analyzed using a MATLAB data analysis software package. As a precaution against stray electrostatic pickups in the probe we have checked that when there is no plasma in the second chamber then the Langmuir probe in that chamber does not show any oscillations. As has been previously reported in many studies [15, 26, 147, 160, 161] these potential fluctuations are due to anode glow oscillations that arise because of dissimilar anode-cathode areas. The frequency of these fluctuations are a function of the discharge voltage and can be changed by changing the discharge voltage.

For our synchronization experiment we keep the discharge voltage of one of the chambers fixed and vary the voltage of the other in a systematic fashion and at every step record the floating potential oscillations of the two Langmuir probes. Typically, the discharge voltage of chamber-1 is fixed at 385 Volts such that the fundamental frequency of the floating potential oscillation of this chamber is around 130 kHz and the discharge voltage of chamber-2 is increased from 325 Volt to 350 Volt in steps of 1 Volt. Consequently the fundamental oscillation frequency of this chamber rises from 120 kHz to about 137 kHz. After this the process is reversed by decreasing the voltage of chamber-2 in steps of 1 volt. We observe several interesting features in our experiment. Initially due to different discharge voltages the frequencies of the two sources are quite disparate and gives rise to side band creations - a regime that can be described as a frequency pulling region. As the discharge voltage of chamber-2 (DV-2) is increased its fundamental frequency keeps increasing and approaching that of chamber-1. When the frequency difference between the two sources falls below a threshold value the two sources synchronize to a common frequency and the side band production dramatically ceases. The oscillations of the two sources are then found to be in an in-phase synchronized state. They continue to remain synchronized in this state till at a certain value of the voltage there occurs an abrupt or discontinuous change in the synchronized frequency taking it to a lower value. The synchronized state of this lower frequency is found to be a π out-of-phase state. This discontinuous change marks a phase-flip transition. The out-of-phase synchronization continues till a certain value of the voltage beyond which one again enters a frequency pulling regime. When one reverses the process from this point by decreasing the DV-2 one first observes the onset of an out-of-phase state followed by an in-phase state. However this transition now takes place at different values of the voltage indicating a hysteresis effect.

We display our experimental results in Figs. 5.2 and 5.3 for observations carried out for two different positions of the bound copper coil on chamber-2, namely, Fig. 5.2 right on top of the cathode region and Fig. 5.3 when it is 6 cms away from the cathode region. In Fig. 5.2 we have only plotted the fundamental frequencies(FF) of the two sources to provide an uncluttered picture of the synchronization process.



Figure 5.2: Experimental observations of frequency pulling, frequency synchronization, phase flip bifurcations and hysteresis phenomenon between two inductively coupled plasma sources. Here, the fundamental frequencies of the two sources have been plotted.

The frequency pulling region in both the figures resembles that shown in Fig. 5.3 where all the sideband frequencies(f) have been plotted to the left and right of the synchronization region.



Figure 5.3: Here, the synchronization region is enlarged due to stronger coupling between the sources when the inductive coil is placed at 6 cms from the cathode and is hence closer to the plasma column.

When the coupling coil bunch on chamber-2 is placed 6 cms away from the cathode the coil is close to the plasma column and hence senses the fluctuations more intensely leading to a stronger coupling between the two sources.

This results in a broadening of the synchronization region and correspondingly the hysteresis region as can be clearly seen in Fig. 5.3 when compared to Fig. 5.2. It should be mentioned that the origin of this hysteresis is not related to the hysteresis seen in the voltage-current (V-I)characteristics of glow discharge plasmas that is typically observed for certain operating regimes [166–169]. We have ascertained experimentally that our sources do not operate in that regime and we do not see any hysteresis in the V-I characteristics. The hysteresis in our experiment is solely associated with the frequency synchronization phenomenon, a novel effect that has never been observed before. The abrupt nature of the phaseflip transition is illustrated in Figs. 5.4 and 5.5 where we display the oscillation time series, the power spectra and the Lissajous plots of the signals from chamber-1 plotted against that of chamber-2 for the increasing and decreasing discharge voltages of chamber-2 plasma system(DV-2) corresponding to Fig. 5.2.



Figure 5.4: Phase flip transition from an in-phase state to an anti-phase state occurring within one volt increase in the voltage of chamber-2.

As can be seen the phase-flip transition takes place with just one step increase or decrease in the DV-2.



Figure 5.5: *Phase flip transition from an anti-phase state to an in-phase state occurring within one volt decrease in the voltage of chamber-2.*

5.3 Numerical Modeling Results

We next discuss the dynamical origin of the phase-flip transition observed in our experiment. As stated earlier, past investigations of such transitions have identified two principal mechanisms for such transitions, namely, due to the presence of time delayed coupling or under the presence of an 'environmental' coupling in which the two systems are not directly coupled but influence each other by interacting with a common interactive medium. We believe that a form of the latter mechanism is at work in our case and is due to the nature of the non-invasive coupling that we have adopted. The induced fluctuating currents in the copper coil arise from the fluctuating fields in the two plasma columns that it senses and in turn these currents act back on the fluctuating fields of the plasma sources. Thus the coil acts as a dynamical medium that forms a bath through which the two sources interact with each other.

To understand the nonlinear dynamics of this coupled system we consider a mathematical model consisting of two Van der Pol equations coupled via a bath [124]. A single Van der Pol model has been frequently used in the past to model the oscillatory behaviour of glow discharge plasmas and is capable of providing a realistic description of synchronization phenomena occurring when it is driven by an external oscillating source [99]. Following Ref. [124] we choose the model equations in the form,

$$\ddot{x} - \epsilon_1 (1 - x^2) \dot{x} + x = M(z - y)$$
(5.1)

$$\ddot{y} - \epsilon_2 (1 - y^2) \dot{y} + (0.7 + S) y = M(z - x)$$
(5.2)

$$\dot{z} = M(z - x) + M(z - y)$$
 (5.3)

where x and y represent the amplitudes of the fluctuations in systems 1 and 2 respectively. The variable z represents the amplitude of the fluctuations in the bath (representing the oscillating signals in the copper wire in our case) and its dynamics is governed by the inputs from both the systems. M is a measure of the coupling strength and ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 are the nonlinear coefficients governing the dynamics of the two systems. To depict the experimental situation, we have taken the intrinsic frequencies of the two systems to be different (namely 1 and 0.7 respectively) and introduced the parameter S to vary the frequency of the second system. We have solved equations (1-3) numerically by setting $\epsilon_1 = 0.2$, $\epsilon_2 = 0.1$ and increasing or decreasing the parameter S from 0 to 0.6 in steps of 0.01 for two different values of M, namely, 0.06 and 0.1. The results are shown in Fig. 5.6 where we clearly see the occurrence of phase flip transitions as well as the existence of hysteresis.



Figure 5.6: Numerical observations of frequency pulling, frequency synchronization, phase flip bifurcations and hysteresis phenomenon between two bath coupled Van der Pol equations. Coupling parameters are : (a) M = 0.06 and (b) M = 0.1

It should be mentioned that the hysteresis behaviour taking place in this model

system is associated with changes in initial conditions as pointed out in [25] and our numerical results are obtained by initiating a random change in the initial condition as we reverse the change in S. Such a change in initial conditions would naturally occur in the plasma environment and hence the model system provides a realistic description of the synchronization process. We also note that the region of hysteresis is enlarged in the model results when the coupling strength is enhanced in agreement with experimental observations.

5.4 Summary and Conclusions

In conclusion, we have investigated the synchronization dynamics of two coupled DC glow discharge plasma sources and shown for the first time the existence of a phase-flip transition in the frequency synchronized regime of such a system. The PF transition is associated with a discontinuous jump in the synchronized frequency of the two sources and does not require the presence of any time delay in the coupling mechanism. The key feature responsible for the PF is the inductive nature of the coupling that acts as a sort of a common interactive medium through which the two sources communicate with each other. Another novel result observed in our experiments is the presence of hysteresis in the onset of the PF transition as we scan the synchronized regime in the increasing or decreasing directions of the dc voltage of one of the sources. Unlike past results, the observed hysteresis is not due to any hysteresis in the voltage-current characteristics of the source but is solely associated with the frequency synchronization mechanism.

Our experimental results are well supported by a theoretical model that represents the dynamics of the individual plasma sources by Van der Pol oscillators and mimics the inductive wire by a bath coupling. The numerical results from the model capture all the essential characteristics of the experiment including frequency pulling, frequency synchronization, phase-flip transitions and hysteresis. Finally we would like to point out that the successful implementation of an inductive coupling mechanism for effecting synchronization between two plasma sources opens up novel possibilities for non-invasive control of plasma fluctuations and instabilities that can have wider applications in industrial or larger scale laboratory setups.

6 Mutual harmonic synchronization via direct coupling

In chapters 4 and 5, we have established that mutual synchronization between the oscillations of two coupled plasma sources can be achieved via direct or indirect coupling between the sources. The synchronization happens through a interaction between the fundamental frequencies of the two systems. In this chapter, we report on mutual harmonic synchronization between two plasma sources. In other words the interaction of the oscillations takes place at higher harmonic frequencies.

6.1 Introduction

In a plasma, higher harmonic synchronization has been studied in various systems like arc discharges [14, 80], glow discharges [83, 90], magnetized plasma discharges [88], thermionic plasma discharges [87], double plasma devices [15], triple plasma devices [138], high beta plasmas [81] and dusty plasmas [99, 165]. All these studies were done by synchronizing the plasma oscillations to an oscillation from an external frequency source such as a function generator. However, to the best of our knowledge there is no reported work where plasma signals themselves were used for such studies (mutual harmonic synchronization). But previously such studies have been done in other fields like lasers [170] and electrochemical oscillators [171].

We present experimental investigations of mutual harmonic synchronization between plasma oscillations of two glow discharge plasma sources with a variation in the oscillation frequencies in one of the sources. The oscillations in each device are due to anode glow instabilities [15,83,88,158,159] and these are of a self-sustained type [2,3]. We show that when oscillations frequencies in both the systems are near their harmonic frequencies then the frequency entrained state is observed and beyond these regions other nonlinear states like frequency pulling, chaos etc. are observed. For a better understanding of the experimental results we have also done numerical simulation by using two mutually coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations [143, 144, 148, 149].

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 6.2 the experimental setup and procedures followed are given. Section 6.3 contains experimental results of harmonic synchronization between two coupled plasma sources. In Section 6.4 we have provided numerical simulation results and finally, in section 6.5 a brief discussion and conclusions are presented.

6.2 Experimental Setup and Procedure

The schematic of the experimental setup for two glow discharge plasma sources is shown in Fig. 6.1. This setup is similar to that presented in chapter-5, with the only difference being that the coupling is provided via a conducting wire in place of a variable resistance [147].



Chapter 6. Mutual harmonic synchronization via direct coupling

Figure 6.1: Experimental setup for two coupled plasma sources. The pressures in chamber-1 and chamber-2 are 0.1 mbar and 0.1 mbar respectively.

In both the discharge systems, a DC glow discharge plasma was formed by applying a potential difference to the electrodes and floating potential fluctuation frequencies were measured using cylindrical Langmuir probes. It was observed that with the increase in discharge voltage, floating potential fluctuation frequencies in the plasmas in both chambers increased linearly. As noted previously in [147]. In the present experiment, the discharge voltage in one of the plasma systems was kept fixed while the discharge voltage (i.e oscillation frequencies) of the other system was varied by connecting the anodes of the two chambers as shown in Fig. 6.1.

6.3 Experimental Results: Mutual Harmonic Synchronization

6.3.1 Frequency Dynamics of the Uncoupled Systems

In chapter-4 [147] and chapter-5 [157], it was shown that the anode glow oscillation [15,26,160,161] frequencies which arose due to the instabilities formed around the anode were increasing linearly with an increase in the discharge voltage. A similar kind of observations was seen in the present set of experiment but with over a much greater range of frequencies compared to chapter-5 [147] and chapter-6 [157]. These results are shown in Fig. 6.2 (a and b) for the chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma systems respectively. For the synchronization experiment, chamber-2 plasma oscillations are chosen as a driver system while chamber-1 plasma oscillations as a driven system.



Figure 6.2: Fundamental frequencies of chamber-1(left) and chamber-2(right) are shown with increasing discharge voltages.

6.3.2 Dynamics of Mutual Harmonic Synchronization

We now discuss the dynamics of mutual harmonic synchronization between two coupled DC glow discharge plasma sources. For this experiment, the discharge voltage in chamber-1 is fixed at 470 volt such that oscillation frequencies in this chamber were around 203 kHz and discharge voltage of chamber-2 is varied from 310 volt to 800 volt such that oscillation frequencies in this chamber's plasma are increased from 90 kHz to 700 kHz. When the anodes of the two chambers are connected, different synchronized states were observed depending upon the ratio of the oscillation frequencies in chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas.





Figure 6.3: In these figures a1 and a2 denotes the signals from chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas respectively. In figures (a,b,c) time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown for chamber-1(at 470 Volt) and chamber-2(at 310 volt) plasmas when anodes of two chambers were not connected. In figures (d,e,f) and (g,h,i) time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown when anodes of two chambers were connected and discharge voltage of chamber-2 plasma was at 320 Volt and 435 Volt respectively.

In Figs. 6.3 and 6.4, time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown for chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma systems. In these results, the discharge voltage of chamber-1 is fixed at 470 V while discharge voltages of chamber-2 are varied. In Fig. 6.3 (a,b,c), time series, power spectrum, and Lissajous plots are shown respectively for chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma system in uncoupled configuration, with a discharge voltage of 310 V for chamber-2 plasma system. From Fig.6.3 (b), it can be seen that fundamental oscillation frequencies in chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas are different and its values are 203 kHz and 91.6 kHz respectively.



Figure 6.4: In figures (a,b,c), (d,e,f) and (g,h,i) time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown for chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas when the anodes of the two chambers were connected and the discharge voltages of chamber-2 were at 595, 680 and 725 Volt respectively

In Figs. 6.3 (d,e,f), 6.3 (g,h,i), 6.4 (a,b,c), 6.4 (d,e,f), and 6.4 (g,h,i), time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown for chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas, when anodes of the two chambers are connected and the discharge voltages in chamber-2 plasma are at 320, 435, 595, 680 and 725 Volts respectively. In Fig. 6.3 (d,e,f), subharmonic synchronization(2:1) results are shown between chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma oscillations. Here, fundamental oscillation frequency in chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas are measured as 197 kHz and 98.5 kHz respectively which are in the ratio of 2:1. This can also be realized from the Lissajous plot in Fig. 6.3 (f), that an eight shape is formed which is a signature of two locked frequencies. In Fig. 6.3 (g,h,i), fundamental frequency synchronization(1:1) are shown between chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma oscillations. For this case, the fundamental oscillation frequency in both the systems is measured as 191.1 kHz. Similarly, in Figs. 6.4 (a,b,c), 6.4 (d,e,f) and 6.4 (g,h,i), super harmonic synchronization results 1 : 2, 1 : 3 and 1 : 4 are shown respectively. In Figs. 6.4 (b), 6.4 (e) and 6.4 (h) fundamental frequency of chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma oscillations are measured as (167.7 kHz, 335.4 kHz), (167.9 kHz, 503.8 kHz) and (164.6 kHz, 576.2 kHz) respectively which are in the ratio of 1 : 2, 1 : 3, and 1 : 4 respectively.

6.3.3 Devil's Staircase and Frequency Bifurcation Plots

The Devil's staircase [2, 3, 99] is a way of representation to show the harmonic synchronization phenomenon. The flat portion of such plots describes the synchronization region and type of harmonic synchronization while region of increase shows the unsynchronized part. In Fig. 6.5, this plot is shown for describing mutual harmonic synchronization phenomenon between two coupled plasma sources. This plot is drawn by plotting the ratio of maximum peak frequency of chamber-2 and chamber-1 plasma oscillations(known as the winding number) on the Y-axis and the maximum peak frequency of chamber-2 plasma oscillations on the horizontal X-axis. From this plot, it can be seen that with the increase in the driving frequency of chamber-2 plasma oscillations, different flat portions emerged, corresponding to different harmonic frequencies of chamber-1 plasma. This figure clearly gives a picture of different harmonic synchronization regions between two coupled plasma sources.



Figure 6.5: In this figure, we have plotted the winding number (ratio of driver frequency (f2) of chamber-2 and driven frequency (f1) of chamber-1) vs driver frequency (f2) of chamber-2 plasma. This plot is known as Devil's staircase plot which is used for quantifying the range in which synchronization occur.

For explaining the complete dynamics of the driven (chamber-1) and driver (chamber-2) systems, in Figs. 6.6 (a and b), frequency bifurcation plots are shown for chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma oscillations with the change in the discharge voltages of chamber-2 plasma system. These figures clearly show the regions in which the oscillation frequencies of chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasmas are frequency entrained and frequency pulled with each other. When the oscillations of chamber-2 plasmas were at harmonic multiples of chamber-1 plasma then frequency entrained states are observed as mentioned by (2:1), (1:1), (1:3/2), (1:2), (1:5/2), and (1:3) numbers in Fig. 6.6 (a and b) and outside these regions frequency pulling and chaos type states are observed. Also, these chaos type states

Chapter 6. Mutual harmonic synchronization via direct coupling

are more prominent for higher harmonic synchronization which is a very interesting observation.



Figure 6.6: In figures 6(a) and 6(b), we have shown frequency bifurcation plots of chamber-1 and chamber-2 plasma signals with the change in the discharge voltage of chamber-2 plasma respectively.

6.4 Numerical Modeling

In chapter-5 [147], Van der Pol type equations [143, 144] are used for modelling the oscillation dynamics of two uncoupled as well as coupled glow discharge plasma sources. In this chapter, a similar type of equations are used for quantifying the experimental results of mutual harmonic synchronization between two coupled glow discharge plasma sources. These are shown in the equations (6.1) and (6.2) [147].

$$\ddot{x} - (a_1 - b_1 * x - c_1 * x^2)\dot{x} + x = N * (\dot{y} - \dot{x}) - A_1$$
(6.1)

$$\ddot{y} - (a_2 - b_2 * y - c_2 * y^2)\dot{y} + y = N * (\dot{x} - \dot{y}) - A_2$$
(6.2)

In chapter-5 [147], it was shown that with the increase in the DC parameter A_1 and A_2 of equations (6.1) and (6.2) respectively, the oscillation frequencies are increased linearly in certain limits. In this chapter too, the same concept is used for modeling the experimental results of mutual harmonic synchronization between two coupled plasma sources. Here, the parameter values are taken as $a_1 = 0.5, b_1 =$ $0.5, c_1 = 0.1, N = 0$ and $a_2 = 0.5, b_2 = 0.5, c_2 = 0.1, N = 0$ of equation (6.1) and (6.2) respectively. In Fig. 6.7, plot of the DC parameter values vs the fundamental frequency of the time series signals generated for the constant parameter $A_1 = 1$ and increasing parameter values of $A_2 = [0: 0.1: 2]$ is shown.



Chapter 6. Mutual harmonic synchronization via direct coupling

Figure 6.7: Fundamental frequency plot for equation (6.1)(dot) and equation (6.2)(circle): In Eq.(1) parameter values of a_1, b_1, c_1, N and A_1 are fixed at 0.5, 0.5, 0.1, 0 and 1, respectively and in Eq.(2), parameter values of a_2, b_2, c_2 and N are fixed at 0.5, 0.5, 0.1 and 0, respectively and A_2 is varied as (0:0.1:2)

From this figure, it can be seen that with the increase in the value of DC parameter A_2 the natural frequencies of the signals of the asymmetric Van der Pol oscillators is increasing while for a fixed value of $A_1 = 1$ it remains constant. These equations are solved using a fourth order Runge-Kutta the method with a time step of $\delta t=0.06$ and the total number of data points are taken to be around 250000.

6.4.1 Mutual Harmonic Synchronization

In the experimental results, it is shown that when the harmonic frequencies of two coupled plasma systems are close to each other then frequency entrained states are observed and outside this region, frequency pulling and chaotic states are seen. Similar to these, in the numerical simulation results also, mutual harmonic synchronization is presented for first harmonic frequency regions for two coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations. For these, the parameters (a_1, b_1, c_1) of (6.1) and (a_2, b_2, c_2) of (6.2) are taken as (0.5, 0.5, 0.1) and (0.5, 0.5, 0.1) respectively and coupling parameter (N) is taken as 0.03 while coupling.



Figure 6.8: (a-c) Time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots for uncoupled (N = 0) equations (6.1) and (6.2) when parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.3)$. (d-i) Time series, power spectrum and Lissajous plots for constant coupling (N = 0.03) for equations (6.1) and (6.2): (d)-(f) parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.3)$, (g)-(i) parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.3)$, (g)-(i) parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 0.3)$, (j)-(k) parameters $(A_1 = 1, A_2 = 1.7)$

 $\mathbf{79}$

Chapter 6. Mutual harmonic synchronization via direct coupling

In Fig. 6.8(a-1) time series, frequency spectrum and Lissajous plots are shown for equations (6.1) and (6.2) with a constant DC parameter $(A_1 = 1)$ and a varied parameter ($A_2 = 0.3, 0.8, 1.7$). In Fig. 6.8 (a,b,c) plots are shown corresponding to coupling parameter (N = 0) and DC parameters $(A_1 = 1)$ and $(A_2 = 0.3)$ of equations (6.1) and (6.2). From these figures, it can be seen that when the two equations are uncoupled then oscillation frequencies corresponding to DC parameters $(A_1 = 1)$ and $(A_2 = 0.3)$ are different and there is no correlation between these oscillations. In Fig. 6.8 (d,e,f), plots for coupled equations (6.1) and (6.2) are shown corresponding to coupling factor (N = 0.03) and fixed DC parameters $(A_1 = 1)$ and $(A_2 = 0.3)$. From Fig. 6.8 (e), it can be seen that side band frequencies are forming around the harmonic frequencies of two coupled equations. In Fig. 6.8 (g,h,i), frequency entrainment results are shown corresponding to DC parameter values of $(A_1 = 1)$ and $(A_2 = 0.8)$ of equation (6.1) and (6.2) respectively and constant coupling parameter (N = 0.03) for both the equations. From Fig. 6.8 (h), it can be seen that though the DC parameter values in both the equations are different but for coupled case they are generating the same frequencies i.e oscillation frequencies of both the equations are entrained with each other.

Similarly in Fig. 6.8 (j,k,l), frequency pulling results are shown corresponding to $(A_1 = 1)$ and $(A_2 = 1.7)$ of equation (6.1) and (6.2) respectively and constant coupling parameter (N = 0.03). From Fig. 6.8 (k), side band frequencies can be clearly seen around the harmonic frequencies of both the equations.

6.4.2 Frequency Bifurcation Plot

For a better representation of the synchronization dynamics between two coupled asymmetric Van der Pol type equations, in Fig. 6.9 frequency bifurcation plot is shown for a fixed DC parameter $A_1 = 1$ of the equation (6.1) and a varying parameter $A_2 = 0 : 0.05 : 2$ of equation (6.2) while keeping coupling parameter (N = 0.03) constant for both the equations. From this plot, it can be clearly seen that when the difference of fundamental oscillation frequencies of two equations is large then frequency pulling states are coming Fig. 6.9 (left and right sides of the plot) and when this difference is small then frequency entrained states are observed as seen in Fig. 6.9 (middle part of the plot).


Figure 6.9: Frequency bifurcation plot for fixed frequency $(A_1 = 1)$ of equation (1) and increasing frequency $(A_2 = (0 : 0.05 : 2))$ of equation (6.2) by keeping coupling parameter (N = 0.03) fixed.

6.5 Summary and Conclusions

In this chapter, we have focused on an investigation of the mutual harmonic synchronization between two coupled plasma sources. In our experimental observations, it is found that with the increase in discharge voltage oscillation frequencies increases linearly. For mutual harmonic synchronization experiment the oscillation frequencies in one of the plasma chamber are kept fixed by keeping its discharge voltage fixed and oscillation frequencies of the other plasma chamber are increased by increasing its discharge voltage. A nonlinear phenomenon like frequency entrainment is observed when oscillation frequencies of two chamber plasmas are harmonic multiples of each other and states like frequency pulling and chaotic oscillations are observed beyond these frequency entrained states. Frequency bifurcation plots of two coupled glow discharge plasma sources provide a clear picture of different synchronized states between the oscillations of the two discharges.

In the numerical simulation, the effect of the DC factor on the oscillation frequencies of the asymmetric Van der Pol type equation is discussed, which is found to be increasing linearly with increase in the DC factor. The coupled dynamics of the system is discussed by making the oscillation frequency in one of the equation constant and increasing the oscillation frequency of other equation. It is found that when oscillation frequencies of the two equations are close then frequency entrainment results are obtained and beyond this region frequency pulling results are seen which is similar to what is seen in the experimental results. Summary and future scope

This chapter provides a summary of the experimental details and major results of our investigations into the mutual synchronization phenomenon between two coupled plasma sources that are reported in earlier chapters and also briefly discusses potential applications of our research and possible future extensions of our research work.

7.1 Summary

The main focus of this dissertation research has been the study of mutual synchronization phenomenon between two coupled DC glow discharge plasma sources. In particular, investigations have centered on finding different frequency synchronized states via direct and indirect coupling of the two sources. In the direct coupling mechanism, states displaying frequency entrainment and frequency pulling are observed as the coupling strength is changed. In the indirect coupling mechanism, a phase-flip transition associated with a frequency jump phenomenon is observed. Numerical simulation results based on a model of two coupled Van der Pol type equations are found to be in good agreement with the experimental results.

The synchronization experiments have been carried out in two DC glow discharge plasma systems which are completely isolated from each other. For performing the experiments, self-sustained anode glow oscillations are produced in each of the chambers. These oscillations are produced by choosing the anode surface area to be such that $S_a \leq a \times S_c \sqrt{m/M}$, where S_a and S_c represent effective anode and cathode surface areas respectively while m, M and a are the electron mass, ion mass, and proportionality constant respectively [26]. If the chosen anode surface area follows this criterion, then for maintaining current equality at cathode and anode by ions and electrons respectively, additional ionization takes place near the anode, which is highly unstable and causes the anode glow oscillations. For performing synchronization experiments, these oscillations are brought to a periodic regime by appropriate choice of the discharge voltage and pressure. The following subsections summarize our results for different types of synchronization studies.

7.1.1 Mutual Synchronization Studies via Direct Coupling

In this investigation, mutual synchronization studies are explored between two directly coupled glow discharge plasma system. The anode glow oscillations are produced in each of the systems. In individual characterization studies of these oscillations it is found that these oscillations increase with the increase in the discharge voltage. These oscillations are probably produced due to ion acoustic instabilities or ionization instabilities [26]. The increase in the frequencies may be due to a combination of both temperature and density increase with the discharge voltage. The primary cause for this increase can be attributed to an increase in the electron temperature resulting from a higher voltage and the direct impact this higher temperature has on the ionization rate contributing to the anode glow oscillation [15, 160, 161]. To model this behaviour of the anode glow oscillations, we have adopted an asymmetric Van der Pol type equation with a DC source term that represents the bias voltage. Numerical solutions of this equation for different values of the DC bias term display a similar rise in the oscillation frequency as a function of the DC parameter. The presence of the asymmetry term was found to be quite important. If the asymmetry term is absent in the model equations, i.e. Van der Pol type equation, then the frequency spectrum of the numerical solutions have only odd multiples of frequencies of the fundamental and therefore do not correctly model the experimental situation where both odd and even multiples of the basic frequencies are seen to exist.

Our synchronization experiments trace the changes in the oscillation frequencies of the two plasma devices as a function of the coupling strength. When the coupling strength is high then a frequency entrained state is observed with the frequencies of the two devices synchronized to a common frequency that is intermediate in value to the individual frequencies of the uncoupled devices. As the coupling strength is decreased a bifurcation behaviour is found to occur below a threshold value resulting in a frequency pulling state that is characterized by the formation of beat frequencies. This behaviour is also well simulated by the model equations of the Van der Pol type equations.

In conclusion, our experiments provide a clear demonstration of the phenomena of frequency synchronization and frequency pulling of anode glow oscillations in plasma glow discharge devices that can form the basis of future dynamical system experiments in plasma systems such as the exploration of chaos or amplitude death phenomenon. The model equations developed in support of our present experiments can help in identifying parametric domains for such explorations.

7.1.2 Phase-flip Transition via Indirect Coupling

We have investigated the synchronization dynamics of two coupled DC glow discharge plasma sources and shown the existence of a phase-flip transition in the frequency synchronized regime of such a system. The PF transition is associated with a discontinuous jump in the synchronized frequency of the two sources and does not require the presence of any time delay in the coupling mechanism. The key feature responsible for the PF is the inductive nature of the coupling that acts as a sort of a common interactive medium through which the two sources communicate with each other. Another novel result observed in our experiments is the presence of hysteresis in the onset of the PF transition as we scan the synchronized regime in the increasing or decreasing directions of the dc voltage of one of the sources. Unlike past results, the observed hysteresis is not due to any hysteresis in the voltagecurrent characteristics of the source but is solely associated with the frequency synchronization mechanism. Our experimental results are well supported by a theoretical model that represents the dynamics of the individual plasma sources by Van der Pol oscillators and mimics the inductive wire by a bath coupling. The numerical results from the model capture all the essential characteristics of the experiment including frequency pulling, frequency synchronization, phase-flip transitions and hysteresis. Here, it should also be pointed out that the successful implementation of an inductive coupling mechanism for effecting synchronization between two plasma sources opens up novel possibilities for non-invasive control of plasma fluctuations and instabilities that can have wider applications in industrial or larger scale laboratory setups.

7.1.3 Mutual Harmonic Synchronization via Direct Coupling

In this chapter, we have focused on the investigation of the mutual harmonic synchronization between two coupled plasma sources. For the harmonic synchronization experiment, the oscillation frequencies in one of the plasma chambers are kept fixed by keeping its discharge voltage fixed and the oscillation frequencies in the other chamber plasma are increased by increasing its discharge voltage. A nonlinear phenomenon like frequency entrainment is observed when the oscillation frequencies of the two plasma systems are at harmonic multiples of each other and states like frequency pulling and chaotic oscillations are observed beyond these frequency entrained states. A frequency bifurcation plot of the two coupled glow discharge plasma sources provides a clear picture of the different synchronized states between the oscillations of the two discharges.

In numerical simulations, the effect of the DC factor on the oscillation frequencies of the asymmetric Van der Pol type equation is discussed. It is found that the frequency increases linearly with an increase of this factor. Coupled dynamics is studied by making the oscillation frequency in one of the equation constants and increasing the oscillation frequency of the other equation. It is found that when the oscillation frequencies of the two equations are close then frequency entrainment is observed and beyond this region frequency pulling results are seen which is analogous to that seen in the experimental results.

7.2 Future Scope

In this thesis work, we have performed synchronization studies by producing self-sustained periodic type oscillations in two glow discharge plasma systems. However, oscillations in this system are not only limited to a periodic type of oscillations and a variety of different types of nonlinear oscillations could also be produced. The synchronization studies using these oscillations have a huge potential to provide new insights into different types of synchronized states. Some of the studies where the results of this thesis work could be used are as follows:

• Chaotic Synchronization

In studies of this type, chaotic systems adjust their rhythms to oscillate in a unified way, due to coupling between the oscillators [1]. This type of synchronization phenomenon has been studied in a variety of fields [1–3, 53, 54, 145, 155]. One of the most important immediate use of such type of synchronization is in the field of secure communication [54]. But due to various complexity involved with this method, it is still not fully explored. The results presented in this thesis work could be extended for carrying out such chaotic synchronization studies in plasma systems by operating in regimes where stable chaotic oscillations occur in the plasma instead of the periodic oscillations used in our experiments. Also, in the chapter 6, for mutual harmonic synchronization studies, it has been shown that at higher harmonic synchronization, chaotic states emerge. These results can also be extended for performing chaotic synchronization studies.

• Oscillation Death

This is a type of synchronization phenomenon in which coupled oscillators cease their oscillations [2, 3, 72-74]. Ramana et al. have shown that by the introduction of some time delay between the coupled oscillators, this state can be obtained [72,72]. Such steady state (amplitude death) has been seen in many different types of oscillators [2,3,74] but in plasma systems, such state has not been explored. The results of this thesis work can also be extended for performing such studies in plasma systems. In our experimental system, this state may be obtained by introducing a time delay between the oscillations of two systems or by introducing a mismatch between the oscillations of two systems [74] etc.

• Chimera States

This is a special type of synchronization state, which is observed in many mutually coupled oscillators. In this state, some of the oscillators come to a synchronized state while others remain in an unsynchronized state [4,76,77] even though all the oscillators are identical in their characteristics and the coupling between all the oscillators are also identical. In plasma systems, such studies have not been done before, but our thesis work can also be extended to do such studies in plasma systems. For these studies, the number of plasma oscillation sources has to be increased and by using the mutual inductive coupling method tit might be possible to obtain such a state.

• Application in PVD Based Coatings

The physical vapor deposition(PVD) technique is widely used for coating different types of materials on substrates. There is however one disadvantage with this method, namely, that coatings formed by this way are not uniform or have some defects. This happens due to the presence of various types of instabilities in the plasma medium. Our synchronization results could help in controlling these instabilities and that in turn will help in forming defect less and uniform coatings. This can be done by forcing PVD oscillations by some external source of oscillation or by self feedback mechanism.

• Science Popularization

Experimental synchronization work that has been presented in this work could be used in general science popularization in the field of nonlinear dynamics and synchronization. Usually, students who wish to study nonlinear phenomena have very limited resources for doing hands on research in this field. They perform such experiments in electronic circuits which have lots of limitations due to the very limited range of its operation in nonlinear regimes. Our experimental setup which has a very wide range of operating regimes and supports for different types of nonlinear dynamic behaviour, could be used for such studies. Also, being a table top setup such a device is very cost effective for use in a teaching environment.

Bibliography

- S. Boccaletti, J. Kurths, G. Osipov, D.L. Valladares, and C.S. Zhou. The synchronization of chaotic systems. *Physics Reports*, 366(1-2):1 – 101, 2002.
- [2] Arkady Pikovsky, Michael Rosenblum, and J. Kurths. Synchronization A Universal Concept In Nonlinear Sciences. Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- [3] Alexander Balanov, Natalia Janson, Dmitry Postnov, and Olga Sosnovtseva. Synchronization: From Simple To Complex. Springer, 2001.
- [4] Daniel M. Abrams and Steven H. Strogatz. Chimera states for coupled oscillators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 93:174102, Oct 2004.
- [5] Awadhesh Prasad, Syamal Kumar Dana, Rajat Karnatak, J. Kurths, Bernd Blasius, and Ramakrishna Ramaswamy. Universal occurrence of the phaseflip bifurcation in time-delay coupled systems. *Chaos*, 18(2), 2008.
- [6] Steven H. Strogatz, Renato E. Mirollo, and Paul C. Matthews. Coupled nonlinear oscillators below the synchronization threshold: Relaxation by generalized landau damping. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 68:2730–2733, May 1992.
- [7] R M Chervin and A K Sen. Feedback stabilization of a multimode two-stream instability. *Plasma Physics*, 15(5):387, 1973.
- [8] A K Sen. Variable gain-phase method for feedback stabilization of multimode plasma instabilities. *Plasma Physics*, 16(6):509, 1974.
- [9] T. Fukuyama, Y. Watanabe, K. Taniguchi, H. Shirahama, and Y. Kawai. Dynamical behavior of the motions associated with the nonlinear periodic regime in a laboratory plasma subject to delayed feedback. *Phys. Rev. E*, 74:016401, Jul 2006.
- [10] T. Fukuyama, H. Shirahama, and Y. Kawai. Dynamical control of the chaotic state of the current-driven ion acoustic instability in a laboratory plasma using delayed feedback. *Physics of Plasmas*, 9(11), 2002.
- [11] Th Mausbach, Th Klinger, A Piel, A Atipo, Th Pierre, and G Bonhomme. *Physics Letters A*, 228(6):373 – 377, 1997.

- [12] B E Keen and W H W Fletcher. Measurement of growth rate, non-linear saturation coefficients, and mode-mode coupling coefficients of a 'van der pol' plasma instability. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, 3(12):1868, 1970.
- [13] T. Klinger, F. Greiner, A. Rohde, and A. Piel. Nonlinear dynamical behavior of thermionic low pressure discharges. ii. experimental. *Physics of Plasmas*, 2(6), 1995.
- [14] B. E. Keen and W. H. W. Fletcher. Suppression and enhancement of an ion-sound instability by nonlinear resonance effects in a plasma. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 23:760–763, Oct 1969.
- [15] T. Gyergyek. Experimental study of the nonlinear dynamics of a harmonically forced double layer. *Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion*, 41(2):175, 1999.
- [16] Epaminondas Rosa, Catalin M. Ticos, William B. Pardo, Jonathan A. Walkenstein, Marco Monti, and Jürgen Kurths. Experimental chua-plasma phase synchronization of chaos. *Phys. Rev. E*, 68:025202, Aug 2003.
- [17] C. Stan, C.P. Cristescu, and D. Alexandroaei. Contributions to Plasma Physics, 42(1):81–89, 2002.
- [18] T. Fukuyama, R. Kozakov, H. Testrich, and C. Wilke. Spatiotemporal synchronization of coupled oscillators in a laboratory plasma. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 96:024101, Jan 2006.
- [19] Kenneth Segall, Siyang Guo, Patrick Crotty, Dan Schult, and Max Miller. Physica B: Condensed Matter, 455:71 – 75, 2014.
- [20] Bhim Mani Adhikari, Awadhesh Prasad, and Mukeshwar Dhamala. Timedelay-induced phase-transition to synchrony in coupled bursting neurons. *Chaos*, 21(2), 2011.
- [21] J. M. Cruz, J. Escalona, P. Parmananda, R. Karnatak, A. Prasad, and R. Ramaswamy. Phase-flip transition in coupled electrochemical cells. *Phys. Rev.* E, 81:046213, Apr 2010.

- [22] Awadhesh Prasad, Jürgen Kurths, Syamal Kumar Dana, and Ramakrishna Ramaswamy. Phase-flip bifurcation induced by time delay. *Phys. Rev. E*, 74:035204, Sep 2006.
- [23] Rajat Karnatak, Nirmal Punetha, Awadhesh Prasad, and Ram Ramaswamy. Nature of the phase-flip transition in the synchronized approach to amplitude death. *Phys. Rev. E*, 82:046219, Oct 2010.
- [24] Amit Sharma, Manish Dev Shrimali, Awadhesh Prasad, Ram Ramaswamy, and Ulrike Feudel. Phase-flip transition in relay-coupled nonlinear oscillators. *Phys. Rev. E*, 84:016226, Jul 2011.
- [25] Amit Sharma, Manish Dev Shrimali, and Syamal Kumar Dana. Phase-flip transition in nonlinear oscillators coupled by dynamic environment. *Chaos*, 22(2), 2012.
- [26] S. P. Nikulin. The effect of the anode dimensions on the characteristics of a hollow-cathode glow discharge. *Technical Physics*, 42(5):495–498, 1997.
- [27] Lissajous Figures. Lissajous figures. (n.d.) mcgraw-hill concise encyclopedia of physics. (2002).
- [28] Huygens. C. Letters to de Sluse, (letters; no. 1333 of 24 February 1665, no. 1335 of 26 February 1665, no. 1345 of 6 March 1665) (Societe Hollandaise Des Sciences, Martinus Nijho, 1895).
- [29] Hugh M. Smith. Synchronous flashing of fireflies. Science, 82(2120):151–152, 1935.
- [30] J. Buck and E. Buck. Synchronous fireflies. Sci. Am., pages 74–85, May 1976.
- [31] S. H. Strogatz and I. Stewart. Coupled oscillators and biological synchronization. Sci. Am., pages 102–108, Dec. 1993.
- [32] W. Garver and F. Moss. Electronic fireflies. Sci. Am., pages 128–130, Dec. 1993.

- [33] Thomas J. Walker. Acoustic synchrony: Two mechanisms in the snowy tree cricket. *Science*, 166(3907):891–894, 1969.
- [34] Steven H. Strogatz. Sync: How Order Emerges From Chaos In the Universe, Nature, and Daily Life. Hyperion, 2004.
- [35] Z. Neda, E. Ravasz, Y. Brechet, T. Vicsek, and A.-L. Barabasi. Selforganizing processes: The sound of many hands clapping. *Nature*, 403:849, (2000).
- [36] J. J. Collins and I. N. Stewart. Symmetry-breaking bifurcation: A possible mechanism for 2:1 frequency-locking in animal locomotion. *Journal of Mathematical Biology*, 30(8):827–838, 1992.
- [37] J. J. Collins and I. N. Stewart. Coupled nonlinear oscillators and the symmetries of animal gaits. *Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 3(1):349–392, 1993.
- [38] A. T. Winfree. The geometry of biological time. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980.
- [39] Renato E. Mirollo and Steven H. Strogatz. Synchronization of pulse-coupled biological oscillators. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, 50(6):1645– 1662, 1990.
- [40] Didier Gonze, Samuel Bernard, Christian Waltermann, Achim Kramer, and Hanspeter Herzel. Spontaneous synchronization of coupled circadian oscillators. *Biophysical Journal*, 89(1):120 – 129, 2005.
- [41] Mitsuo Kawato and Ryoji Suzuki. Two coupled neural oscillators as a model of the circadian pacemaker. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 86(3):547 – 575, 1980.
- [42] Angela M. dos Santos, Sergio R. Lopes, and R.L.Ricardo L. Viana. Rhythm synchronization and chaotic modulation of coupled van der pol oscillators in a model for the heartbeat. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 338:335 – 355, 2004.

- [43] D C Michaels, E P Matyas, and J Jalife. Mechanisms of sinoatrial pacemaker synchronization: a new hypothesis. *Circulation Research*, 61(5):704–714, 1987.
- [44] M. K. McClintock. Menstrual synchrony and suppression. Nature, 5282:244– 245, (1971).
- [45] James Pantaleone. Synchronization of metronomes. American Journal of Physics, 70(10):992–1000, 2002.
- [46] J. Benford, H. Sze, W. Woo, R. R. Smith, and B. Harteneck. Phase locking of relativistic magnetrons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 62:969–971, Feb 1989.
- [47] J. Rayleigh. The Theory of Sound. Dover Publishers, New York, 1945.
- [48] P. M. Varangis, A. Gavrielides, T. Erneux, V. Kovanis, and L. F. Lester. Frequency entrainment in optically injected semiconductor lasers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 78:2353–2356, Mar 1997.
- [49] A. Hohl, A. Gavrielides, T. Erneux, and V. Kovanis. Localized synchronization in two coupled nonidentical semiconductor lasers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 78:4745–4748, Jun 1997.
- [50] Herbert G. Winful and Lutfur Rahman. Synchronized chaos and spatiotemporal chaos in arrays of coupled lasers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 65:1575–1578, Sep 1990.
- [51] Rajarshi Roy and K. Scott Thornburg. Experimental synchronization of chaotic lasers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 72:2009–2012, Mar 1994.
- [52] Josep Mulet, Claudio Mirasso, Tilmann Heil, and Ingo Fischer. Synchronization scenario of two distant mutually coupled semiconductor lasers. *Journal* of Optics B: Quantum and Semiclassical Optics, 6(1):97, 2004.
- [53] John R. Terry, K. Scott Thornburg, David J. DeShazer, Gregory D. Van-Wiggeren, Shiqun Zhu, Peter Ashwin, and Rajarshi Roy. Synchronization of chaos in an array of three lasers. *Phys. Rev. E*, 59:4036–4043, Apr 1999.

- [54] Louis M. Pecora and Thomas L. Carroll. Synchronization in chaotic systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 64:821–824, Feb 1990.
- [55] Y. Kuramoto. Chemical oscillations, waves and turbulence. Springer, Berlin,, 1984.
- [56] K. Bar-Eli. On the stability of coupled chemical oscillators. Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena, 14(2):242 – 252, 1985.
- [57] P. Parmananda. Generalized synchronization of spatiotemporal chemical chaos. *Phys. Rev. E*, 56:1595–1598, Aug 1997.
- [58] P. Parmananda, M. A. Rhode, G. A. Johnson, R. W. Rollins, H. D. Dewald, and A. J. Markworth. Stabilization of unstable steady states in an electrochemical system using derivative control. *Phys. Rev. E*, 49:5007–5011, Jun 1994.
- [59] Tanu Singla, Fernando Montoya, M. Rivera, Shunsuke Tajima, Seiichiro Nakabayashi, and P. Parmananda. Synchronization using environmental coupling in mercury beating heart oscillators. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 26(6):063103, 2016.
- [60] Pawan Kumar, Dinesh Kumar Verma, P. Parmananda, and S. Boccaletti. Experimental evidence of explosive synchronization in mercury beating-heart oscillators. *Phys. Rev. E*, 91:062909, Jun 2015.
- [61] Dinesh Kumar Verma, A. Q. Contractor, and P. Parmananda. Potentialdependent topological modes in the mercury beating heart system. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry A*, 117(2):267–274, 2013. PMID: 23276204.
- [62] Milos Marek and Ivan Stuchl. Synchronization in two interacting oscillatory systems. *Biophysical Chemistry*, 3(3):241 248, 1975.
- [63] Igor Schreiber and Milos Marek. Strange attractors in coupled reactiondiffusion cells. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 5(2-3):258 – 272, 1982.
- [64] A. T. Winfree. The prehistory of the belousov-zhabotinsky oscillator. *Journal* of Chemical Education, 61(8):661, 1984.

- [65] P. Hadley, M. R. Beasley, and K. Wiesenfeld. Phase locking of josephsonjunction series arrays. *Phys. Rev. B*, 38:8712–8719, Nov 1988.
- [66] Kurt Wiesenfeld, Pere Colet, and Steven H. Strogatz. Synchronization transitions in a disordered josephson series array. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 76:404–407, Jan 1996.
- [67] K. Kurokawa. Injection locking of microwave solid-state oscillators. Proc. IEEE, 61:1386–1410, (1973).
- [68] B. C. Lampkin, T. Nagao, and A. M. Mauer. Synchronization of the mitotic cycle in acute leukaemia. *Nature*, 222:1274–1275, (2000).
- [69] D. Cortez and S. J. Elledge. Conducting the mitotic symphony. *Nature*, 406:354–356, (2000).
- [70] Oleksandr V. Popovych, Christian Hauptmann, and Peter A. Tass. Effective desynchronization by nonlinear delayed feedback. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 94:164102, Apr 2005.
- [71] Steven H. Strogatz, Daniel M. Abrams, Allan McRobie, Bruno Eckhardt, and Edward Ott. Theoretical mechanics: Crowd synchrony on the millennium bridge. *Nature*, 438:43–44, (2005).
- [72] D. V. Ramana Reddy, A. Sen, and G. L. Johnston. Experimental evidence of time-delay-induced death in coupled limit-cycle oscillators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85:3381–3384, Oct 2000.
- [73] D. V. Ramana Reddy, A. Sen, and G. L. Johnston. Time delay induced death in coupled limit cycle oscillators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 80:5109–5112, Jun 1998.
- [74] Garima Saxena, Awadhesh Prasad, and Ram Ramaswamy. Amplitude death: The emergence of stationarity in coupled nonlinear systems. *Physics Reports*, 521(5):205 – 228, 2012.
- [75] Diego Pazó. Thermodynamic limit of the first-order phase transition in the kuramoto model. *Phys. Rev. E*, 72:046211, Oct 2005.

- [76] Gautam C. Sethia, Abhijit Sen, and Fatihcan M. Atay. Clustered chimera states in delay-coupled oscillator systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 100:144102, Apr 2008.
- [77] Mark R. Tinsley, Simbarashe Nkomo, and Kenneth Showalter. Chimera and phase-cluster states in populations of coupled chemical oscillators. *Nature PHYSICS*, 8:662–665, (2012).
- [78] Nicholas M. Dotson and Charles M. Gray. Experimental observation of phase-flip transitions in the brain. *Phys. Rev. E*, 94:042420, Oct 2016.
- [79] Aaron M. Hagerstrom, Thomas E. Murphy, Rajarshi Roy, Philipp Hovel, Iryna Omelchenko, and Eckehard Scholl. Experimental observation of chimeras in coupled-map lattices. *Nature Physics*, 8:658–661, (2012).
- [80] B. E. Keen and W. H. W. Fletcher. Nonlinear plasma instability effects for subharmonic and harmonic forcing oscillations. *Journal of Physics A: General Physics*, 5(1):152, 1972.
- [81] C. S. Corr and R. W. Boswell. *Physics of Plasmas*, 16(2):022308, 2009.
- [82] H Amemiya. Characteristics of the nonlinear suppression of ionization waves. *Plasma Physics*, 25(7):735, 1983.
- [83] T. Klinger, A. Piel, F. Seddighi, and C. Wilke. *Physics Letters A*, 182(2-3):312 – 318, 1993.
- [84] T. Klinger, A. Piel, F. Seddighi, and C. Wilke. Van der pol dynamics of ionization waves. *Physics Letters A*, (2):312 – 318, 1993.
- [85] Yoshiharu Nakamura. Suppression of two-stream instability by beam modulation. Journal of the Physical Society of Japan, 28(5):1315–1321, 1970.
- [86] Y Saitou, Y Nakamura, M Tanaka, A Komori, and Y Kawai. Experiments on suppression of ion-ion instability by rf pumps. *Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion*, 35(12):1755, 1993.
- [87] T. Klinger, F. Greiner, A. Rohde, A. Piel, and M. Koepke. van der pol behavior of relaxation oscillations in a periodically driven thermionic discharge. *Phys. Rev. E*, 52:4316–4327, Oct 1995.

- [88] T. Gyergyek, M. Cercek, and M. Stanojevic. Experimental evidence of periodic pulling in a weakly magnetized discharge plasma column. *Contributions* to Plasma Physics, 37(5):399–416, 1997.
- [89] Mode suppression of a two-dimensional potential relaxation instability in a weakly magnetized discharge plasma. *Physics Letters A*, 177(1):54 – 60, 1993.
- [90] Md. Nurujjaman and A. N. Sekar Iyengar. Dynamics of an excitable glowdischarge plasma under external forcing. *Phys. Rev. E*, 82:056210, Nov 2010.
- [91] D. Block, A. Piel, Ch. Schröder, and T. Klinger. Synchronization of drift waves. *Phys. Rev. E*, 63:056401, Apr 2001.
- [92] D. Block, Ch. Schröder, T. Klinger, and A. Piel. Influence of an octupole arrangement of electrodes on drift waves. *Contributions to Plasma Physics*, 41(5):455–460, 2001.
- [93] Ch. Schröder, T. Klinger, G. Bonhomme, D. Block, and A. Piel. Taming drift wave turbulence. *Contributions to Plasma Physics*, 41(5):461–466, 2001.
- [94] Christiane Schröder, Thomas Klinger, Dietmar Block, Alexander Piel, Gérard Bonhomme, and Volker Naulin. Mode selective control of drift wave turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 86:5711–5714, Jun 2001.
- [95] Christian Brandt, Olaf Grulke, and Thomas Klinger. Nonlinear interaction of drift waves with driven plasma currents. *Physics of Plasmas*, 17(3), 2010.
- [96] C. Brandt, O. Grulke, and T. Klinger. Comparison of electrostatic and electromagnetic synchronization of drift waves and suppression of drift wave turbulence in a linear device. *Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion*, 52(5):055009, 2010.
- [97] F. Brochard, G. Bonhomme, E. Gravier, S. Oldenbürger, and M. Philipp. Spatiotemporal control and synchronization of flute modes and drift waves in a magnetized plasma column. *Physics of Plasmas*, 13(5):052509, 2006.

- [98] Thomas Trottenberg, Dietmar Block, and Alexander Piel. Dust confinement and dust-acoustic waves in weakly magnetized anodic plasmas. *Physics of Plasmas*, 13(4), 2006.
- [99] W. D. Suranga Ruhunusiri and J. Goree. Synchronization mechanism and arnold tongues for dust density waves. *Phys. Rev. E*, 85:046401, Apr 2012.
- [100] Iris Pilch, Torben Reichstein, and Alexander Piel. Synchronization of dust density waves in anodic plasmas. *Physics of Plasmas*, 16(12), 2009.
- [101] K. O. Menzel, O. Arp, and A. Piel. Spatial frequency clustering in nonlinear dust-density waves. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:235002, Jun 2010.
- [102] Amiya K. Sen. Dynamic feedback for multi-mode plasma instabilities. Journal of Plasma Physics, 20(1):1–16, 008 1978.
- [103] P. Tham, A. K. Sen, A. Sekiguchi, R. G. Greaves, and G. A. Navratil. Feedback-modulated ion beam stabilization of a plasma instability. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 67:204–207, Jul 1991.
- [104] P. Tham and A. K. Sen. Remote multimode feedback stabilization of plasma instabilities. *Phys. Rev. A*, 46:R4520–R4523, Oct 1992.
- [105] P. Tham and A. K. Sen. Feedback stabilization of plasma instabilities using a modulated ion beam. *Physics of Fluids B*, 4(10), 1992.
- [106] A. K. Sen. Feedback suppression of the radiative condensation instability. *Physics of Fluids B*, 5(11), 1993.
- [107] B. Richards, T. Uckan, A. J. Wootton, B. A. Carreras, Roger D. Bengtson, P. Hurwitz, G. X. Li, H. Lin, W. L. Rowan, H. Y. W. Tsui, A. K. Sen, and J. Uglum. Modification of tokamak edge turbulence using feedback. *Physics* of Plasmas, 1(5), 1994.
- [108] A. K. Sen. Remote feedback stabilization of tokamak instabilities. *Physics of Plasmas*, 1(5), 1994.
- [109] Z. B. Guo and P. H. Diamond. From phase locking to phase slips: A mechanism for a quiescent h mode. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 114:145002, Apr 2015.

- [110] K. J. Zhao, Y. Nagashima, P. H. Diamond, J. Q. Dong, K. Itoh, S.-I. Itoh, L. W. Yan, J. Cheng, A. Fujisawa, S. Inagaki, Y. Kosuga, M. Sasaki, Z. X. Wang, L. Wei, Z. H. Huang, D. L. Yu, W. Y. Hong, Q. Li, X. Q. Ji, X. M. Song, Y. Huang, Yi. Liu, Q. W. Yang, X. T. Ding, and X. R. Duan. Synchronization of geodesic acoustic modes and magnetic fluctuations in toroidal plasmas. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 117:145002, Sep 2016.
- [111] M. L. Cartwright. Balthazar van der Pol. J. London Math. Soc., 35(3):367– 376, 1960.
- [112] B. van der Pol. A theory of the amplitude of free and forced triode vibrations. *Radio Review*, 1:701–710, (1920).
- [113] B. van der Pol. Relaxation oscillation. Phil. Mag., 2:978–992, (1926).
- [114] B. van der Pol. The nonlinear theory of electric oscillations. Proc. IRE, 22:1051–1086, (1934).
- [115] John Guckenheimer, Kathleen Hoffman, and Warren Weckesser. Numerical computation of canards. International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos, 10(12):2669–2687, 2000.
- [116] P. F. Rowat and A. I. Selverston. Modeling the gastric mill central pattern generator of the lobster with a relaxation-oscillator network. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 70(3):1030–1053, 1993.
- [117] Julyan H. E. Cartwright et. al. Dynamics of elastic excitable media. International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos, 09(11):2197–2202, 1999.
- [118] F. Greiner, T. Klinger, H. Klostermann, and A. Piel. Experiments and particle-in-cell simulation on self-oscillations and period doubling in thermionic discharges at low pressure. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 70:3071–3074, May 1993.
- [119] Debajyoti Saha, Pankaj Kumar Shaw, M. S. Janaki, A. N. Sekar Iyengar, Sabuj Ghosh, Vramori Mitra, and Alpha Michael Wharton. *Physics of Plas*mas, 21(3):032301, 2014.

- [120] B. van der Pol and J. Van der Mark. The heartbeat considered as a relaxation oscillation, and an electrical model of the heart. *Phil. Mag.*, 6:763–775, (1928).
- [121] Dietmar Ruwisch, Mathias Bode, Denis Volkov, and Evgenii Volkov. Collective modes of three coupled relaxation oscillators: The influence of detuning. *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, 09(10):1969–1981, 1999.
- [122] T. Pavlidis. Book on Biological Oscillarors: Their Mathematical Analysis. Academic Press, 1973.
- [123] Taishin Nomura, Shunsuke Sato, Shinji Doi, Jose P. Segundo, and Michael D. Stiber. A bonhoeffer-van der pol oscillator model of locked and non-locked behaviors of living pacemaker neurons. *Biological Cybernetics*, 69(5):429– 437, 1993.
- [124] Erika Camacho, Richard Rand, and Howard Howland. Dynamics of two van der pol oscillators coupled via a bath. International Journal of Solids and Structures, 41(8):2133 – 2143, 2004.
- [125] H. Lashinsky, T. J. Rosenberg, and D. L. Detrick. Power line radiation: Possible evidence of van der pol oscillations in the magnetosphere. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 7(10):837–840, 1980.
- [126] J. S. Levine, N. Aiello, J. Benford, and B. Harteneck. Design and operation of a module of phase locked relativistic magnetrons. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 70(5):2838–2848, 1991.
- [127] V. Blažek. A semiconductor laser as a classical van der pol oscillator controlled by an external signal. Czechoslovak Journal of Physics B, 18(5):644– 646, 1968.
- [128] R. W. Boswell and P. J. Christiansen. Feedback stabilization of an ionacoustic instability. *Physics of Fluids*, 16(5), 1973.
- [129] P Michelsen, H L Pecseli, J Juul Rasmussen, and R Schrittwieser. The current-driven, ion-acoustic instability in a collisionless plasma. *Plasma Physics*, 21(1):61, 1979.

- [130] Peter DeNeef and Herbert Lashinsky. Van der pol model for unstable waves on a beam-plasma system. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 31:1039–1041, Oct 1973.
- [131] Thomas H. Stix. Finite-amplitude collisional drift waves. Physics of Fluids, 12(3), 1969.
- [132] R. Tavzes and M. Cercek. Frequency entrainment of a drift instability by nonlinear effects in a plasma. *Physics Letters A*, 43(2):99 – 100, 1973.
- [133] H. Klostermann, A. Rohde, and A. Piel. Van der pol behavior of virtual anode oscillations in the sheath around a grid in a double plasma device. *Physics of Plasmas*, 4(7), 1997.
- [134] Hulbert C. S. Hsuan. Nonlinear effects in plasma resonance. Phys. Rev., 172:137–145, Aug 1968.
- [135] A. Buragohain, Joyanti Chutia, and Y. Nakamura. Mode suppression and period-doubling cascade in a double-plasma device. *Physics Letters A*, 163(5-6):425 – 428, 1992.
- [136] M. Wendt, I. Axnäs, and S. Torvén. Amplitude collapse of nonlinear doublelayer oscillations. *Phys. Rev. E*, 57:4638–4644, Apr 1998.
- [137] R. H. Abrams, E. J. Yadlowsky, and H. Lashinsky. Periodic pulling and turbulence in a bounded plasma. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 22:275–278, Feb 1969.
- [138] T. Klinger, A. Piel, I. Axnas, and S. Torven. The bifurcation structure of periodically forced current disruptions. *Physica Scripta*, 56(1):70, 1997.
- [139] M. E. Koepke, T. Klinger, F. Seddighi, and A. Piel. *Physics of Plasmas*, 3(12):4421–4426, 1996.
- [140] M. E. Koepke, M. J. Alport, T. E. Sheridan, W. E. Amatucci, and J. J. Carroll. Asymmetric spectral broadening of modulated electrostatic ioncyclotron waves. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 21(11):1011–1014, 1994.
- [141] A. V. Shut'ko. Finite amplitude ion acoustic waves in an unstable plasma. Soviet Physics Jetp, 30:248, (FEBRUARY, 1970).

- [142] H. G. Enjieu Kadji, B. R. Nana Nbendjo, J. B. Chabi Orou, and P. K. Talla. *Physics of Plasmas*, 15(3):-, 2008.
- [143] Alexander Hramov, Alexey Koronovskii, Vladimir Ponomarenko, and Mikhail Prokhorov. Phys. Rev. E, 73:026208, Feb 2006.
- [144] Alexander Hramov, Alexey Koronovskii, Vladimir Ponomarenko, and Mikhail Prokhorov. Phys. Rev. E, 75:056207, May 2007.
- [145] K. S. Thornburg, M. Möller, Rajarshi Roy, T. W. Carr, R.-D. Li, and T. Erneux. Chaos and coherence in coupled lasers. *Phys. Rev. E*, 55:3865– 3869, Apr 1997.
- [146] Leon Glass. Synchronization and rhythmic processes in physiology. Nature, 410:277–284, (2001).
- [147] Neeraj Chaubey, S. Mukherjee, A. N. Sekar Iyengar, and A. Sen. Synchronization between two coupled direct current glow discharge plasma sources. *Physics of Plasmas*, 22(2), 2015.
- [148] R.H. Rand and P.J. Holmes. International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics, 15:387 – 399, 1980.
- [149] D.W. Storti and R.H. Rand. International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics, 17(3):143 – 152, 1982.
- [150] Ekkehard Ullner, Alexei Zaikin, Evgenii I. Volkov, and Jordi García-Ojalvo. Multistability and clustering in a population of synthetic genetic oscillators via phase-repulsive cell-to-cell communication. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:148103, Oct 2007.
- [151] Ekkehard Ullner, Aneta Koseska, Jürgen Kurths, Evgenii Volkov, Holger Kantz, and Jordi García-Ojalvo. Multistability of synthetic genetic networks with repressive cell-to-cell communication. *Phys. Rev. E*, 78:031904, Sep 2008.
- [152] Matthew Bennett, Michael F. Schatz, Heidi Rockwood, and Kurt Wiesenfeld. Huygens's clocks. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 458(2019):563–579, 2002.

- [153] Annette F. Taylor, Mark R. Tinsley, Fang Wang, Zhaoyang Huang, and Kenneth Showalter. Dynamical quorum sensing and synchronization in large populations of chemical oscillators. *Science*, 323(5914):614–617, 2009.
- [154] J. Javaloyes, M. Perrin, and A Politi. Collective atomic recoil laser as a synchronization transition. *Phys. Rev. E*, 78:011108, Jul 2008.
- [155] Kurt Wiesenfeld, Christopher Bracikowski, Glenn James, and Rajarshi Roy. Observation of antiphase states in a multimode laser. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 65:1749–1752, Oct 1990.
- [156] V. Resmi, G. Ambika, and R. E. Amritkar. Synchronized states in chaotic systems coupled indirectly through a dynamic environment. *Phys. Rev. E*, 81:046216, Apr 2010.
- [157] Neeraj Chaubey, S. Mukherjee, A. Sen, and A. N. Sekar Iyengar. Experimental observation of phase-flip transitions in two inductively coupled glow discharge plasmas. *Phys. Rev. E*, 94:061201, Dec 2016.
- [158] M. A. Mujawar, S. K. Karkari, and M. M. Turner. Plasma Sources Science and Technology, 20(1):015024, 2011.
- [159] R. L. Stenzel, C. Ionita, and R. Schrittwieser. Plasma Sources Science and Technology, 17(3):035006, 2008.
- [160] M. Sanduloviciu and E. Lozneanu. On the generation mechanism and the instability properties of anode double layers. *Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion*, 28(3):585, 1986.
- [161] Bin Song, N. D' Angelo, and R. L. Merlino. On anode spots, double layers and plasma contactors. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, 24(10):1789, 1991.
- [162] Norman C. Heglund, C. Richard Taylor, and Thomas A. McMahon. Scaling stride frequency and gait to animal size: Mice to horses. *Science*, 186(4169):1112–1113, 1974.

- [163] R. J. Full and M. S. Tu. Mechanics of a rapid running insect: two-, fourand six-legged locomotion. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 156(1):215–231, 1991.
- [164] Catalin M. Ticos, Epaminondas Rosa, William B. Pardo, Jonathan A. Walkenstein, and Marco Monti. Experimental real-time phase synchronization of a paced chaotic plasma discharge. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85:2929–2932, Oct 2000.
- [165] Iris Pilch, Torben Reichstein, and Alexander Piel. Synchronization of dust density waves in anodic plasmas. *Physics of Plasmas*, 16(12):-, 2009.
- [166] Robert L. Merlino and Steven L. Cartier. Hysteresis in a low-pressure argon discharge. Applied Physics Letters, 44(1), 1984.
- [167] R. A. Bosch and R. L. Merlino. Sudden jumps, hysteresis, and negative resistance in an argon plasma discharge. i. discharges with no magnetic field. *BeitrÃdge aus der Plasmaphysik*, 26(1):1–12, 1986.
- [168] R. A. Bosch and R. L. Merlino. Sudden jumps, hysteresis, and negative resistance in an argon plasma discharge. ii. discharges in magnetic fields. *BeitrÃdge aus der Plasmaphysik*, 26(1):13–17, 1986.
- [169] R. Timm and A. Piel. Hysteresis and transition to chaos in a thermionic plasma discharge. *Contributions to Plasma Physics*, 32(6):599–611, 1992.
- [170] David J. DeShazer, Romulus Breban, Edward Ott, and Rajarshi Roy. Detecting phase synchronization in a chaotic laser array. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 87:044101, Jul 2001.
- [171] Fernando Montoya, M. Rivera, J. Escalona, and P. Parmananda. Construction of arnold tongue structures for coupled periodic oscillators. *Physics Letters A*, 377(43):3124 – 3127, 2013.